
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thursday, 29 June 2017 
11.00 am 
 
 
 
 
 

5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South 
side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, 
London, EC1M 5LG 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

Guidance notes for members and visitors 
Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, London, EC1M 5LG 

 

Please read these notes for your own safety and that of all visitors, staff and tenants. 
 
Welcome! 
Layden House is located directly opposite the Turnmill Street entrance to Farringdon station, which is 
served by the Circle, Hammersmith & City, and Metropolitan lines as well as the Thameslink national 
rail route.  
 
Security 
Layden House has a swipe card access system meaning that a swipe enabled security passes will 
be required to access the lifts and floors 1-5.   
 
Most LGA governance structure meetings will take place on the ground floor of Layden House 
which is open access and therefore does not require a swipe enabled security pass.  Access to the 
rest of the building (floors 1-5) is via swipe enabled security passes. 
 
When you visit Layden House, please show your Local Government House security pass to 
reception and they will provide you with a temporary pass which will allow you access to  floors 1  5 
if required.  Please don’t forget to sign out at reception and return your security pass when 
you depart. 
 
If you do not have a LGH Security Pass, please email member services with your name and a recent 
photo and a pass will be made for you. You can pick this up from the Layden House reception desk 
on your next visit. 
 
Fire instructions 
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately via the nearest fire exit onto 
Turnmill Street and take the next turning on your left – Benjamin Street to St John’s Gardens. 
DO NOT USE THE LIFTS. 
DO NOT STOP TO COLLECT PERSONAL BELONGINGS. 
DO NOT RE-ENTER BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
Soft Seating Area  
There is a small soft seating area on Floor 2 which will also operate as an ‘Open Council’ area for 
visiting members and officers from member councils.  Please note however that unlike Open Council, 
this area does not have tea and coffee facilities, nor access to computers.     
 
Toilets 
There are accessible toilets on the Ground Floor, 2nd and 4th floors.   
 
Accessibility 
If you have special access needs, please let the meeting contact know in advance and we will do our 
best to make suitable arrangements to meet your requirements. 
 
Parking is available at the rear of the building for Blue Badge holders, accessed via the Turks Head 
Yard, North underpass.  Disabled WCs are situated on the ground and 4th floors. An induction loop 
system is available in the 5th floor conference venue.  For further information please contact the 
Facilities Management Helpdesk on 020 7664 3015. 
 
 

mailto:memberservices@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
Guest WiFi in Layden House  
WiFi is available in Layden House for visitors. It can be accessed by enabling “Wireless Network 
Connection” on your computer and connecting to LGA-Free-WiFi. You will then need to register, 
either by completing a form or through your Facebook or Twitter account (if you have one). You only 
need to register the first time you log on.  
 
Further help 
Please speak either to staff at the main reception on the ground floor, if you require any further help 
or information. You can find the LGA website at www.local.gov.uk  
 
Why have the LGA’s Headquarters moved?  
The LGA has temporarily relocated from Local Government House (LGH) in Smith Square to Layden 
House in Farringdon, effective from Monday 31 October 2016.  This is to allow extensive 
refurbishment work to be carried out to LGH.  
 
The refurbishment works will see the ground floor conference centre and all meeting rooms fully 
refurbished. Floors 1, 2 and 3 will be upgraded and released for commercial letting to enable the 
LGA to maximise the income from this building as part of its drive for financial sustainability. A new 
and larger Open Council will be located on the seventh floor. The refurbishment is expected to last 
for twelve months and we expect to be back in LGH by October 2017. 
 
We appreciate your understanding and flexibility during this time. 

 

http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

 
Children & Young People Board 
29 June 2017 

 

There will be a meeting of the Children & Young People Board at 11.00 am on Thursday, 29 June 
2017 5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street,. 
London, EC1M 5LG. 
 

A sandwich lunch will be available directly after the meeting. 
 

Attendance Sheet: 
Please ensure that you sign the attendance register, which will be available in the meeting room.  It 
is the only record of your presence at the meeting. 
 

Political Group meetings: 
The group meetings will take place prior to the meeting.  Please contact your political group as 
outlined below for further details. 
 

Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative: Group Office: 020 7664 3223     email:     lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk   
Labour:  Group Office: 020 7664 3334     email:     Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk  
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224     email:     independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk   
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235     email:     libdem@local.gov.uk 
 

Location:  
A map showing the location of Layden House is printed on the back cover.   
 

LGA Contact:  
Alexander Saul 
0207 664 3232 / alexander.saul@local.gov.uk 
 

Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of up to £7.50 per hour is 
available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly people or people with disabilities) 
incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 

Social Media 
The LGA is committed to using social media in a co-ordinated and sensible way, as part of a 
strategic approach to communications, to help enhance the reputation of local government, 
improvement engagement with different elements of the community and drive efficiency. Please feel 
free to use social media during this meeting. However, you are requested not to use social media 
during any confidential items. 
 

The twitter hashtag for this meeting is #lgacyp 
 

mailto:lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk
mailto:Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk
mailto:independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk
mailto:libdem@local.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 

Children & Young People Board – Membership 2016/2017 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 7)  
Cllr Roy Perry (Vice-Chair) Hampshire County Council 

Cllr Gareth Barnard Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
Cllr Ian Hudspeth Oxfordshire County Council 

Cllr Dick Madden Essex County Council 
Cllr Ian Parry Staffordshire County Council 

Cllr Janet Walton Borough of Poole 
Vacancy Conservative Group 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Matt Bennett Birmingham City Council 
Cllr Ryan Brent Portsmouth City Council 

Cllr Peter Oakford Kent County Council 
  
Labour ( 7)  
Cllr Richard Watts (Chair) Islington Council 

Cllr John Kent Thurrock Council 
Cllr Bob Cook Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 

Cllr Anne Burns Cumbria County Council 
Cllr Anntoinette Bramble Hackney London Borough Council 

Cllr David Mellen Nottingham City Council 
Cllr Roz Gladden Liverpool City Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Megan Swift Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council 
Cllr Dora Dixon-Fyle MBE Southwark Council 

Cllr Rachel Harris Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 
  
Independent ( 2)  
Cllr Gillian Ford (Deputy Chair) Havering London Borough Council 

Cllr Paul Cullen Richmondshire District Council 
  
Substitutes  

Cllr Helen Grant North Yorkshire County Council 

Cllr Lorna Corke Sedgemoor District Council 

Cllr Rebecca Novell Lancaster City Council 

  

Liberal Democrat ( 2)  

Cllr Liz Green (Deputy Chair) Kingston upon Thames Royal Borough Council 

Cllr Christopher Coleman Cheltenham Borough Council 
  
Substitutes  

Cllr Jon Hubbard Wiltshire Council 



 

 

 
 
LGA Children and Young People Board  
Attendance 2016-2017 
 

Councillors 29/9/16 3/11/16 13/01/17 23/03/17 

     

Conservative Group     

Roy Perry Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Gareth Barnard Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Liz Hacket Pain Yes No No Yes 

Ian Hudspeth No No Yes Yes 

Dick Madden Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Ian Parry Yes No by phone No 

Janet Walton Yes No by phone No 

     

Labour Group     

Richard Watts Yes Yes Yes Yes 

John Kent No No No Yes 

Bob Cook Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Anne Burns Yes Yes No Yes 

Anntoinette Bramble No Yes Yes Yes 

David Mellen Yes Yes Yes No 

Roz Gladden No Yes Yes No 

     

Independent     

Gillian Ford Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Paul Cullen Yes Yes Yes No 

     

Lib Dem Group     

Liz Green Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Christopher Coleman  Yes No Yes No 

     

Substitutes     

Peter Oakford Yes    

Rachel Harris  Yes   

Helen Grant  Yes   

MeganSwift   Yes  

Jon Hubbard    Yes 

Ryan Brent    Yes 

 



 

 

 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Children & Young People Board 
 
Thursday 29 June 2017 
 
11.00 am 
 
5th Floor Conference Suite, 5th Floor (South side), Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, 
London, EC1M 5LG 
 

 
 

 Item Page  
 

1.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

2.   Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system 
 

1 - 42  

 Donna Molloy (Director of Dissemination at the Early Intervention 
Foundation) and Tom McBride (Director of Evidence at the Early 
Intervention Foundation) will be attending the CYP Board to lead a 
discussion focussed on the implications for practice and policy at both 
local and national level. 
 

  

3.   Post-election lobbying priorities 
 

43 - 48  

4.   End of Year Board Report 
 

49 - 52  

5.   Update on LGA Task Group: The Future of Children's Social Care 
Improvement 
 

53 - 58  

6.   Note of the Previous Meeting 
 

59 - 65  

  
 

  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 12 September 2017, 11.00 am, Local 

Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
 





 

 

Children and Young People 
Board  

29 June 2017  

 

 

     

Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system 
 
Purpose  
 
For discussion. 
 
Summary 
 
On Friday 23 June, the LGA and Early Intervention Foundation published a series of 
research reports examining the effectiveness of the child protection system. This paper 
summarises the main findings from that work, with Donna Molloy (Director of Dissemination 
at the Early Intervention Foundation) and Tom McBride (Director of Evidence at the Early 
Intervention Foundation)  attending the CYP Board to lead a discussion focussed on the 
implications for practice and policy at both local and national level. 
 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
Members are asked to: 

 
1. Consider the key findings from the research and advise on potential implications 

for both national and local practice. 
 

2. Note the paper and endorse its priorities for action. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to action as appropriate. 
 

 
 

Contact officer:  Ian Dean 

Position: Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7665 3878 

Email: ian.dean@local.gov.uk  

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

mailto:ian.dean@local.gov.uk


 

 

Children and Young People 
Board  

29 June 2017  

 

 

     

Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system 

 
Background 

 
1. Increasing demands on the child protection system in the context of current fiscal 

constraints has led to growing debate as to how scarce resources can be used to best 

effect. In response, the LGA, Early Intervention Foundation (EIF) and NSPCC, with 

support from Research in Practice (RiP) and the Department of Social Policy and 

Intervention at the University of Oxford, have collaborated on a large scale research 

project aiming to address three main questions: 

 

1.1. What has been shown to improve outcomes for children in the child protection 

system? 

1.2. What do we know about what local areas are delivering as part of the child 

protection system? 

1.3. What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection system? 
 
2. The scope of this work did not include interventions and approaches provided as part of 

a local early help offer, which could reduce later demand on children’s social care. The 
evidence on effectiveness in early help is the core focus of the Early Intervention 
Foundation, with a range of resources available at www.eif.org.uk. 

 
2. The research was published on Friday 23 June, with a project overview report (attached 

at Appendix A) providing a summary of key findings and lessons from five detailed 
research papers, which have been published separately and are available to download 
at www.local.gov.uk.  

 
3. Donna Molloy, Director of Dissemination at the Early Intervention Foundation, will attend 

the meeting and lead a discussion on the main findings from the research and the 
implications for practice and policy at both local and national level. 

 
Summary of main findings 
 
4. The report highlights several named services and interventions that have been shown 

through trials and other robust methods to improve outcomes for vulnerable children, 
which will be of interest to members and those commissioning services. Notably, many 
of these are not currently widely available in local areas, suggesting a gap between what 
is known from evidence and what is delivered in reality. 

 
5. There are currently a range of programmes being delivered locally which do not yet have 

evidence of improving outcomes for children who are at risk. This includes some well-
established models such as multi agency safeguarding hubs (MASH), and the report 
calls for these to be prioritised for robust evaluation.  

 
6. There are clear messages about the need to build capacity to use and generate 

evidence, as the current lack of capacity within councils makes it very difficult to engage 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2

www.eif.org.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 

Children and Young People 
Board  

29 June 2017  

 

 

     

with evidence and make the case locally for introducing new evidence based 
approaches. 

 
7. This lack of analytical capacity was reflected by the local authorities interviewed in the 

case study work, who reported that a lack of resources to effectively monitor the things 
they were delivering meant that they were sometimes operating without a strong sense 
of whether current services / practices were delivering the intended objectives or not. 

 
8. Using evidence requires capacity, technical expertise and resource, all of which are very 

hard for local authorities to find when analytical capacity has been pared back due to 
budgetary constraints. The report concludes that central support is required to enable 
councils to use and apply evidence, tackle misconceptions and monitor whether the 
things being delivered locally are actually keeping children safe / improving outcomes. 
The DfE will shortly be launching a new What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care, 
and the report contains some clear messages on how this new infrastructure can be 
used most effectively. 

 
Priorities for action 
 
9. Supporting use of evidence of effectiveness and overcoming misconceptions about gaps 

in the evidence. Specifically, those working in evidence generation and knowledge 
brokerage need to do more to: 
 
9.1. Communicate the nature of the evidence for child protection to local leaders and 

commissioners, including which activities are supported by good evidence, which 
activities are harder to evaluate, and where the gaps are. 
 

9.2. Guide local decisions by providing clear information about which approaches are 
likely to provide the most effective help and protection and those that have yet to 
demonstrate impact on outcomes for children. 

 
9.3. Make it clear whether and how particular circumstances and local context might 

impact upon the effectiveness of an intervention. 
 

10. Building ‘evidence literacy’ among local leaders, commissioners and practitioners: 
 
10.1. It is important to ensure that the way evidence is presented helps to build 

awareness of why evidence matters and makes clear to practitioners how the 
evidence in question can underpin professional judgment and direct work. 
 

10.2. At a practice level, it is vital that social workers feel confident in using evidence and 
in playing a role in generating new evidence. 

 
11. Filling the gaps in the evidence: 

 
11.1. This work highlights some clear gaps and issues in relation to the available 

evidence that need to be addressed by all those with an interest in ensuring child 
protection work is informed by evidence. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Children and Young People 
Board  

29 June 2017  

 

 

     

11.2. Developing evidence of impact takes time, and the evidence base is always some 
distance behind innovation. Nevertheless, it is vitally important that it keeps pace 
with local delivery and the realities of the sector in a time of increasing demand and 
fewer resources. Funding that is currently available for generating evidence to 
support child protection could be usefully directed towards evaluating some of the 
widely used approaches that have not yet been well evaluated, such as 
multiagency safeguarding hubs (MASH) and multi-disciplinary delivery models. This 
information should also include detail about the costs of delivery and cost– benefit 
analysis, to help other areas develop business cases. 

 
12. Supporting the analytical capacity in local areas: 

 
12.1. Action is needed to develop the analytical capacity in children’s social care to 

understand the nature of their local demand and apply the evidence as it relates to 
leadership, commissioning and practice. Support to test and monitor local 
approaches is particularly important to reduce the volume of activity where very little 
is known about impact or outcomes. Government, in close partnership with the 
sector, has an important role to play in providing assistance or capacity in local 
areas that have had to reduce own their internal capacity for evidence appraisal 
and data analysis. 

 
Appendices 
 
13. Appendix A – Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 
 
Implications for Wales 1 
 
14. The research was primarily concerned with the child protection system and practice in 

England, though many of the findings will be equally relevant for child protection 
departments in Wales. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
15. None.  
 
Next steps 
 
16. Members are asked to: 

 
16.1. Consider the key findings from the research and advise on potential implications for 

both national and local practice. 
 

16.2. Note the paper and endorse its priorities for action. 
 

 

                                           
1
 The WLGA pays a membership fee to the LGA on behalf of all Welsh councils and we lobby for them on “non-devolved” 

issues - e.g. DWP work.  The WLGA provides “top-slice” for workforce support, but none for “improvement”.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 1

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

IMPROVING THE 
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
CHILD PROTECTION SYSTEM
OVERVIEW

JUNE 2017

DONNA MOLLOY, STEVE BARTON AND LUCY BRIMS

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 2

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
This overview report is based on the work included in the five research papers commissioned as part 
of this project, and we are very grateful to the authors of those papers for both the work on their 
individual strands and the input and insight they have provided to this overview report. Particular 
thanks go to Jane Barlow and Anita Schrader McMillan from the University of Oxford, Dez Holmes and 
Rebecca Godar from Research in Practice, and Pam Miller from the NSPCC.

We are also very grateful to the LGA for their collaboration on this programme of work as a whole and 
their input into this overview report. In particular Ian Dean has been a critical source of support and 
insight throughout the project. Thanks also go to colleagues at EIF, in particular Kirsten Asmussen, Lara 
Doubell, Tom McBride, Carey Oppenheim and Mark Ballinger.

ABOUT THIS PROJECT
This overview report was produced as part of a wider project on improving outcomes within the child 
protection system, commissioned by the Early Intervention Foundation (EIF) in collaboration with 
the Local Government Association (LGA) and supported by the NSPCC, Research in Practice and the 
University of Oxford. The project had five strands (described below), all of which are published as 
separate research papers. 

This overview and the five research papers in the series can be accessed via the EIF website:  
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview

1. Improving the effectiveness of the Child Protection System – a review of literature: A review of 
literature in order to identify both known and emerging/innovative systems and practices and 
other ways of working shown to improve outcomes for children who have experienced abuse 
and neglect or are clearly identified as being at risk of such abuse. This has been carried out by 
Professor Jane Barlow and Anita Schrader McMillan at the University of Oxford.

2. Child protection – a review of the literature on current systems and practice: A literature review of 
publicly available information investigating current local authority delivery of approaches, systems 
or interventions presented as good practice in published reports. This has been carried out by 
Research in Practice.

3.  The use of research evidence regarding ‘what works’ in local authority child protection systems 
and practice: An analysis of five local authorities: An examination of child protection systems 
and practices in a small number of local areas using surveys or deep dives. This maps out a 
comprehensive list of the features of the systems and practices in those areas, in order to 
understand the journeys and interventions experienced by children at risk, and where financial 
cost are incurred. This has also been carried out by Research in Practice.

4. Trends in Child Protection: England: This has been carried out by the NSPCC as part of their annual 
How Safe are our Children? report, using trend data on 22 indicators around child protection that 
cover England. 

5. An analysis of international trend data on child protection indicators: A review of international 
indicators that are the same as or similar to those in the NSPCC’s How Safe are our Children? 
report, in order to facilitate international comparisons, also carried out by the University of 
Edinburgh with the support of the NSPCC. 

ABOUT THE AUTHORS
• Donna Molloy is director of dissemination at EIF.
• Steve Barton is an associate at EIF, and formerly an assistant director of children’s services at 

Brighton and Hove Council.
• Lucy Brims is a research officer at EIF.

Early Intervention Foundation 
10 Salamanca Place
London SE1 7HB

W: www.EIF.org.uk
E: info@eif.org.uk
T: @TheEIFoundation  
P: +44 (0)20 3542 2481

This paper was first published in June 2017. © 2017

The aim of this report is to support policy-makers, practitioners and commissioners to make informed 
choices. We have reviewed data from authoritative sources but this analysis must be seen as supplement 
to, rather than a substitute for, professional judgment. The What Works Network is not responsible for, 
and cannot guarantee the accuracy of, any analysis produced or cited herein.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

http://www.EIF.org.uk
mailto:info@eif.org.uk
https://twitter.com/TheEIFoundation


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 3

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Contents
Executive summary ............................................................................................5

What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in improving outcomes 
for children in the child protection system? ......................................................5

What do we know about what local areas are delivering? ................................9

What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection 
system? .............................................................................................................9

Priorities for action ............................................................................................9

1. Introduction ................................................................................................. 13

Context and purpose .......................................................................................13

Methods and the research strands ..................................................................14

Understanding the evidence............................................................................14

2. What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in improving outcomes 
for children in the child protection system? ...................................................... 16

Where is the evidence strongest, and what are the priorities for evaluation? ...17

Improving the quality of assessment and family engagement in child protection 
 ........................................................................................................................18

Interventions for children and families in the child protection system ............19

Interventions related to domestic abuse .........................................................21

Innovative models and approaches to delivering a local child protection service 
 ........................................................................................................................23

Social work practice  ........................................................................................23

3. What do we know about what local areas are delivering as part of the child 
protection system? .......................................................................................... 24

The role of evidence in the child protection system ........................................24

Evidence in culture and vision .........................................................................25

Evidence in commissioning and service provision ...........................................25

Local evaluation and cost–benefit analysis ......................................................25

Evidence-based provision within the child protection system .........................26

The relationship between child protection and early help  ..............................26

Evidence in practice and individual casework ..................................................27

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 4

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

4. What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection 
system? ........................................................................................................... 28

Demand on the system ....................................................................................28

Outcomes of the child protection system ........................................................32

International comparisons ...............................................................................33

5. Conclusions and recommendations .............................................................. 34

Key findings and conclusions ...........................................................................34

Priorities for action ..........................................................................................35

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 5

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Executive summary 
Increasing demands on the child protection system in the context of current fiscal 
constraints has led to growing debate as to how scarce resources can be used to 
best effect. This project, a collaboration between EIF, the LGA and the NSPCC, with 
support from Research in Practice (RiP) and the Department of Social Policy and 
Intervention at the University of Oxford, addresses three main questions:
• What has been shown to improve outcomes for children in the child protection 

system? 
• What do we know about what local areas are delivering as part of the child 

protection system? 
• What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection system? 

This overview report provides a summary of key findings and lessons from five 
detailed research papers, which have been published separately.1 

The scope of this work did not include interventions and approaches provided as 
part of a local early help offer, which could reduce demand on children’s social 
care. The evidence on effectiveness in early help is the core focus of the Early 
Intervention Foundation.2 

What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in 
improving outcomes for children in the child protection 
system? 
The review of evidence published as part of this project has identified interventions 
that have been shown through robust studies to be effective in improving 
outcomes for vulnerable children.

Where families are facing complex, multi-layered problems, an integrated package 
of support is almost certainly required. The evidence points to the value of parent-
focused interventions that are underpinned by clear logic models (theories of 
change) geared to strengthening parent–child interactions and reducing child 
conduct problems. The components of this package must be identified following 
assessment of the needs of the family, and interventions must be targeted 
specifically according to these needs and the age of the children.

The success of any intervention depends on a number of common elements, the 
most important of these being the quality of the therapeutic relationship between 
a practitioner and the child, parent or family. The evidence suggests that strengths-
based approaches which acknowledge the challenges parents face are likely to be 
more effective than overly focusing on parental deficits, which is more likely to lead 
to resistance. 

The review of evidence published alongside this report highlights the specific 
interventions and practices with proven evidence of effectiveness in detail, and 
is summarised in this overview report. This evidence provides an important new 
resource for local authorities.3

1 All five research papers are available at: http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-
effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview 

2 For more information, see: http://www.eif.org.uk 

3 For more detail on how to read these summaries, see the section ‘Understanding the evidence’ in 
the following chapter, Introduction.

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 6

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY FINDINGS     |     1 of 3

PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIPS  
AND ASSOCIATED OUTCOMES

To reduce physical abuse

Evidence supports family-focused casework and enhanced versions of parenting 
programmes, such as the Incredible Years Programme.

There is evidence to support multisystemic therapy – child abuse and neglect 
(MST-CAN) as a component of treatment for physical abuse, but the impact may 
depend on the severity and complexity of the families’ problems.

Where there is emotional abuse/harmful interactions

The most consistent evidence supports the use of Parent Child Interaction 
Therapy (PCIT) for improving outcomes when there are concerns about 
physically abusive parenting. Child-Parent Psychotherapy (Lieberman model) 
and the Parent-Child Game (also known as Helping the Noncompliant Child)  
also have evidence of improving parenting behaviours and child outcomes when 
there is a known risk of child maltreatment. 

A recent trial of the Child First programme in the United States has found good 
evidence of reductions of child maltreatment in families where there is an 
identified risk. 

For children who have been neglected

The review failed to identify interventions with strong evidence of improving 
outcomes for children where neglect has been identified as the primary issue. 
We believe this to be a significant gap in the evidence base.

For children who have been sexually abused

Based on forthcoming NICE guidance

The NSPCC is currently evaluating the effectiveness of Letting the Future In (LTFI) 
for boys and girls aged 8 to 17 who have been sexually abused. 

For girls aged 6 to 14 who have been sexually abused and who are showing 
symptoms of emotional or behavioural disturbance, the recommendation 
is for careful discussion with the girl about her own preference for either 
individual-focused psychoanalytic therapy or group psychotherapeutic and 
psycho-educational sessions. Separate sessions need to be provided for the non-
offending parent or carer.

Older maltreated children with trauma symptoms

Child-parent Psychotherapy (Leiberman model), or trauma-focused cognitive 
therapy for both the child and parent, may improve parental sensitivity or 
attachment security in children and in young people with signs of trauma as a 
consequence of maltreatment.

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 7

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY FINDINGS     |     2 of 3

SUPPORTING THE PARENT, CHILD OR BOTH  
WHERE CHILDREN ARE EXPOSED TO PARENTS  

EXPERIENCING PROBLEMS

Where a parent is substance-dependent

The Parents Under Pressure programme is currently undergoing a trial in the 
UK on the basis of preliminary evidence identified in several Australian studies. 
There is also evidence to suggest that Behavioural Couples Therapy (BCT) 
reduces substance misuse problems when offered in families where only one 
parent has a substance misuse problem. 

Studies also suggest that improved child outcomes can occur when BCT 
is combined with the Parent-Child Game (also known as Helping the 
Noncompliant Child). The extent to which BCT is available in the UK is unclear. 

Emerging, recent evidence shows promising results for the Family Drug and 
Alcohol Court programmes.

Where parents face complex problems

Integrated packages of support are likely to be required, often tailored to the 
needs of each family member – for example, a combined focus on substance use 
and parenting.

KEY FINDINGS     |     3 of 3

FOR FAMILIES WHERE DOMESTIC ABUSE IS PRESENT

There is moderate to strong evidence that interventions that involve mothers and 
children together appear to be more effective than community case-management 
or child-only treatment, on a range of outcomes for both mother and child. 

Intensive family preservation programmes have been shown to be more 
effective for families facing a temporary crisis, but least effective for families 
with patterns of chronic abuse and neglect.

For victims of domestic abuse

There is moderate evidence that counselling interventions may improve 
symptoms associated with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, 
anxiety, self-esteem, stress management, independence, support, re-occurrence 
of violence, birth outcomes for pregnant women, motivational level and/or 
readiness to change.

There is moderate evidence that therapy interventions may be effective in 
improving PTSD symptoms, depression, trauma symptoms, psychological and 
social outcomes, and/or parenting/family-related outcomes, and in some cases 
may reduce likelihood of future intimate partner violence (IPV) or re-abuse.

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 8

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

For children exposed to domestic abuse

There is some evidence to support the use of psycho-educational interventions 
based on empowerment models; multicomponent interventions (such as 
community-based service planning, nurse case management, and non-parental 
child care for disadvantaged families) with a focus on advocacy; and mother–
child therapeutic treatment. 

Child-Parent Psychotherapy (Leiberman model) also has evidence of reducing 
both parent and child symptoms of trauma in families who have experienced 
domestic abuse. 

For perpetrators of domestic abuse

Evidence on intervention programmes for perpetrators of domestic abuse tends 
to show limited effects in changing perpetrator behaviour. This is an area where 
new models are being developed, although evidence of effectiveness is at an 
early stage.

Caring Dads, Safer Children (CDSC), a fathering programme for partner-violent 
men, found evidence of sustained change among a proportion of fathers who 
completed the programme, although for some the degree of change was 
insufficient to cease monitoring contact with their families.

However, as the evidence review makes clear: ‘research evidence on the 
effectiveness of an intervention provides a starting point, rather than the final 
word, for effective and safe practice’. Evidence of effectiveness is important, but is 
not the only consideration in making decisions locally about what to commission. 
Factors such as cost and fit with the wider local system are also important. Making 
final decisions about specific interventions that could be delivered should be done 

by assessing potential interventions 
for both their feasibility and 
acceptability within the local 
context of resources and priorities. 
It is also important to consider 
how far any new evidence-based 
intervention is likely to provide 
measurable value over and above 
the current provision. 

Areas where there is a lack of evidence 
There are some gaps in evidence, such as what works best to improve outcomes 
for children who have experienced neglect. Other notable examples highlighted 
by this work include the lack of robust evaluation of the impact of multi-agency 
safeguarding hubs (MASH) and other integrated or multi-agency approaches. The 
lack of evidence for aspects of social work practice is also notable. More could be 
done to specify the role of evidence in relation to direct work with families, so that 
professional judgment is underpinned and informed by evidence. The current lack of 
evidence of impact on reducing child maltreatment for commonly used approaches 
such as Signs of Safety and family group conferencing is also significant, although it is 
encouraging to note that both are subject to evaluation at the time of writing.

‘Research evidence on the 
effectiveness of an intervention 
provides a starting point, rather 
than the final word, for effective 
and safe practice.’

Page 12

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 9

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

What do we know about what local areas are delivering? 
The five local authorities involved in our research emphasised the importance of a 
clear overall vision for the delivery of services to vulnerable children and families, 
corporately owned and supported throughout the organisation, in developing an 
effective child protection system. A single overarching approach with a shared set 
of principles enabled commissioners and practitioners to commission services and 
interventions that fit within that wider framework. This was felt to be significant 
because individual interventions and approaches to work with families often relied on 
their interaction with other services and support mechanisms already in place locally.

Local authorities included in the research were delivering some of the services 
highlighted by the evidence review as being effective. While this is very positive, 
it was not clear how far these services were available to all those families who 
might need them, or to what extent there were families and children with needs 
for which there are not well-evidenced interventions available. This highlights the 
significant gap between what is known to be effective from peer-reviewed studies 
and what is delivered in local child protection systems. 

This work also highlights the extent to which approaches described in the evidence 
review as ‘innovative but not yet evidenced’ are being widely delivered. 

What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the 
child protection system?
Answering this question starts with an understanding of the current system. We 
know that demand has increased. However, weaknesses in data collection mean 
that we have only a limited picture of the factors underpinning this increased 
demand, including the extent to which it is driven by changes to the system, 
changes in funding, or changes in the make-up of the local child population. Wider 
factors may be increasing demand, such as increasing poverty and homelessness, 
although it is challenging to establish a causal relationship. Local authorities have 
also identified domestic abuse, poor mental health and substance misuse as 
contributing towards increased demand. 

The picture of child safety today is mixed, but it appears that people are more 
willing to speak up about child maltreatment than in previous years. While 
individual examples of good work may look different in different places for 
different children, we still need to do more to understand whether the child 
protection system as a whole is working well for children. Despite some national 
indicators indicating an improving picture, we have limited understanding of the 
effectiveness of the child protection system. A shared outcomes framework and a 
consensus around ‘what good looks like’ in children’s social care are lacking. Local 
variation in services exists. Children are more likely to be on a child protection 
plan if they live in a more deprived area, and spending on children’s social work 
varies widely across England. Current Ofsted judgments conclude that 22% of 
the services it has inspected since 2013 are inadequate, while a further 46% still 
require improvement to be good.

Priorities for action 
At a time of shrinking budgets and increasing demand, it seems particularly 
important to use the evidence to ensure scarce resources are directed towards 
interventions with the greatest chance of success. While evidence of impact is 
not the only consideration in deciding what to deliver, on balance, families and 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 10

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

children who receive interventions shown through robust methods to improve 
outcomes are more likely to benefit and to a greater degree than those who 
receive other services.

Reducing the distance between the worlds of evidence and local decision-making 
will require a variety of bodies to work collaboratively to communicate and develop 
the evidence, to support local areas to use that evidence, and to develop ‘evidence 
literacy’. The government intends to establish a new What Works Centre for 
Children’s Social Care, which provides an important opportunity to create the central 
infrastructure to respond to some of these issues. It will be important that questions 
of ‘what works’ and outputs from the centre are sufficiently nuanced to guide local 
authorities to apply the evidence in varying strategic and operational contexts. 

1. Supporting use of evidence of effectiveness and overcoming 
misconceptions about gaps in the evidence
Specifically, those working in evidence generation and knowledge brokerage need 
to do more to:
• Communicate the nature of the evidence for child protection to local 

leaders and commissioners, including which activities are supported by good 
evidence, which activities are harder to evaluate, and where the gaps are. 

• Guide local decisions by providing clear information about which approaches 
are likely to provide the most effective help and protection and those that 
have yet to demonstrate impact on outcomes for children. 

• Make it clear whether and how particular circumstances and local context 
might impact upon the effectiveness of an intervention. 

2. Building ‘evidence literacy’ among local leaders, commissioners and 
practitioners
It is important to ensure that the way evidence is presented helps to build 
awareness of why evidence matters and makes clear to practitioners how the 
evidence in question can underpin professional judgment and direct work. 

3. Filling the gaps in the evidence
This work highlights some clear gaps and issues in relation to the available 
evidence that need to be addressed by all those with an interest in ensuring child 
protection work is informed by evidence. 

This includes ensuring that evidence of impact is developed for some of the widely 
used approaches where it is not yet available. This information should also include 
detail about the costs of delivery and cost–benefit analysis, to help other areas 
develop business cases. 

It should also be a priority to conduct robust evaluation of some of the ‘innovative 
but not yet evidenced’ multi-disciplinary approaches to assessment and delivery 
which are widely used, such as multi-agency safeguarding hubs (MASH).

4. Supporting the analytical capacity in local areas
Action is needed to develop the analytical capacity in children’s social care to 
understand the nature of their local demand and apply the evidence as it relates 
to leadership, commissioning and practice. Government, in close partnership with 
the sector, has an important role to play in providing assistance or capacity in local 
areas that have had to reduce own their internal capacity for evidence appraisal 
and data analysis. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 11

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY IMPLICATIONS FOR LOCAL LEADERS OR THOSE 
SCRUTINISING LOCAL SERVICES 
Evidence could, and should, play a greater role in improving the effectiveness 
of the child protection system than is currently the case. This work highlights 
interventions that trials have shown to benefit more children and/or to a greater 
degree than other services. 

Local leaders have a crucial role to play in helping to ensure that evidence is used 
in decision-making, commissioning and work with families so that children and 
families receive the best possible support. Improving the effectiveness of the 
local child protection system requires taking a systematic approach to managing 
demand and cost. 

This means:
• using evidence to understand local need and demand 
• selecting interventions which have evidence of improving outcomes for 

vulnerable children and which match local needs
• where evidence of impact is not available, asking questions about other 

sources of evidence or knowledge that are being used as a basis for decisions. 

KEY QUESTIONS FOR LOCAL LEADERS TO ASK
• To what extent does evidence feature in the design, business case and 

operation of your statutory child protection system? 
• Do your local arrangements take account of the available research evidence 

about which interventions or approaches work in local child protection 
systems? 

• Where new or innovative approaches are being considered, is there 
sufficient capacity available to evaluate their impact?

• How do you know and when are you told? Do you have effective 
arrangements in place for overseeing your local child protection system? 

BUILDING EVIDENCE INTO LOCAL CHILD PROTECTION SYSTEMS
Lead members and directors of children’s services should consider how to ensure 
that the use of evidence becomes an integral part of the vision for and culture 
of children’s services in their area, and a key factor for decision-making in the 
service and with partners. This might involve: 

• Reviewing the local child protection system: for example, by including 
an assessment of the extent to which local interventions and approaches 
are grounded in evidence as part of ongoing work to review local child 
protection system budgets and performance. 

• Consolidating evidence-based decision-making: actively interrogating the 
use of research evidence in local commissioning decisions, for example 
by requiring local managers and principal social workers to include the 
strength of evidence in any business cases affecting social work practice 
and in specifications for services commissioned with or delivered by the 
authority’s partners.

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 12

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

• Consolidating effective cost– benefit analysis: reviewing how 
cost–benefit models are currently used and how that use might be 
strengthened or shared to improve strategic planning and decision-
making, including with directors of finance or resources, and with finance 
directors in key partner agencies. 

• Consolidating local learning partnerships: strengthening the learning 
culture, including partnerships with local universities, by enabling and 
embedding the systematic use of research evidence by all practitioners 
across the local child protection system. Particular attention could be paid 
to the leadership role of the principal social worker in promoting the use of 
evidence to inform social work practice and practice wisdom.

Page 16

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 13

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

1. Introduction 

Context and purpose
The rising demand on the child protection system in the context of current 
resource pressure has led to growing debate as to how scarce resources can be 
used to best effect. This project, a collaboration between the EIF, LGA and the 
NSPCC with support from Research in Practice and the Department of Social 
Policy and Intervention, University of Oxford, aims to provide an objective analysis 
of current trends in the child protection system and the evidence about which 
approaches impact on child outcomes. By setting this alongside information about 
current decision-making and practice in local areas, the work aims to highlight 
steps that could be taken both locally and nationally to improve the effectiveness 
of the system. 

Local authorities have a statutory duty to provide a child protection (social work) 
service for the most vulnerable children, with a number of statutory functions 
under the 1989 and 2004 Children Acts. The cost of this system is an estimated 
£6 billion a year nationally, and it absorbs a large proportion of the budget for 
children’s services locally. There has been a significant increase in activity in 
many parts of the system recorded nationally, and locally councils are reporting 
increasingly complex child and family needs – all at a time of significant budget 
pressures. As a consequence, many local authorities are weighing up the risks and 
the options for changing the way they do things. 

The Local Government Association (LGA) has worked with the Early Intervention 
Foundation (EIF) to review the evidence on approaches that have been found 
to impact on child outcomes for children suffering or at the risk of suffering 
abuse and neglect, and to compare this with the services that are actually being 
delivered in local authorities in England The aim was to establish whether there are 
messages from the evidence that could inform the efforts of local leaders trying 
to simultaneously manage demand, reduce spending and improve outcomes. The 
work also considers any implications for the national leadership of the children’s 
social care system. 

The term ‘child protection system’ is used in this work to refer to statutory child 
protection services, interventions and practice with children and young people 
who require a social care response, as defined by current legislation and guidance. 
This includes:
• children assessed to be in need of services due to risks to their health and 

development under section 17 of the Children Act 1989
• children assessed to be experiencing, or at risk of, significant harm under 

section 47 of the Children Act 1989
• children assessed to be at such significant risk that care proceedings are 

necessary and for whom the local authority is going through the public law 
outline (PLO) process. 

This scope of this work did not include interventions and approaches that could 
potentially reduce demand on children’s social care as part of a local early help 
offer. The evidence on effectiveness in early help is the core focus of EIF’s wider 
work – for more information, see: www.EIF.org.uk

Page 17

Agenda Item 2

http://www.EIF.org.uk


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 14

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Methods and the research strands 
This project had five separate strands, which together aim to answer three 
questions.4

1. What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in improving 
outcomes for children in the child protection system? 
Strand 1: Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system – a review of 
literature: This review of literature was undertaken in order to identify both known 
and emerging or innovative systems and practices and other ways of working 
shown to improve outcomes for children who have experienced abuse and neglect 
or who are identified as being at risk of such abuse. This has been carried out by 
Professor Jane Barlow and Dr Anita Schrader McMillan at the Department of Social 
Policy and Intervention, University of Oxford. The review document is, in itself, a 
new and valuable resource for local authorities.

2. What do we know about what local areas are delivering? 
Strand 2: A rapid knowledge review of current child protection systems and 
practice: This provides a review of publicly available information on current local 
authority delivery of approaches, systems or interventions presented as good 
practice in published reports. This has been carried out by Research in Practice.

Strand 3: The use of research evidence regarding ‘what works in local authority 
child protection systems and practice: An analysis of five local authorities: This 
examination of child protection systems and practices in five local areas was 
undertaken using surveys or deep dives. This paper maps out a comprehensive list 
of the features of the systems and practices in these areas, in order to understand 
the journeys and interventions experienced by children at risk, and where financial 
costs are incurred. This has been carried out by Research in Practice.

3. What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the system ?
Strand 4: Trends in child protection in the UK: This analysis, using trend data on 22 
indicators around child protection that cover England, has been carried out by the 
NSPCC as part of their annual How Safe are our Children? report. 

Strand 5: Bringing the global to the local: Review of global trends in the 
prevalence and services for child maltreatment in order to inform research, 
policy and practice in England: This is an analysis of child protection indicators 
that are the same as, or similar to, those in their How Safe are our Children? 
report, provided to facilitate international comparisons. It was carried out by the 
University of Edinburgh with the support of the NSPCC. 

This overview report is based on these five strands of work. 

Understanding the evidence
The majority of interventions highlighted in this summary have been judged by 
the EIF team to be ‘evidence-based’, meaning that the interventions have evidence 
consistent with an EIF level 3 rating.5 This level means that programmes are based 
on a rigorous evaluation, using a randomised controlled trial (RCT) or high-quality 

4 All five research papers are available at: http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-
effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview 

5 For more information on the EIF evidence standards and ratings, see: http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/
eif-evidence-standards 

Page 18

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/eif-evidence-standards
http://guidebook.eif.org.uk/eif-evidence-standards


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 15

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

quasi-experimental design (QED), and that meaningful, positive child outcomes 
have been identified. 

This allows us to be sufficiently confident that causality can be attributed to the 
intervention model. While not all of these interventions have undergone a full 
EIF evidence assessment, we believe that there is good, face-value information 
to suggest that the study design and findings are consistent with the EIF level 3 
standards. 

Occasionally, interventions with more preliminary evidence are mentioned 
because they may be of particular interest to UK audiences. In this instance, we 
use the term ‘preliminary’ as there is good, face-value information to suggest 
that the study design and findings are consistent with our level 2 rating. This 
rating means that there is evidence of improving a child outcome, but that some 
features of the methodology do not yet allow causality to be inferred.

It is worth noting that it is more challenging to assess the effectiveness of generic 
practices or ways of working than to assess interventions, since many practices 
are less distinct and not always time-bound, and are therefore less amenable 
to randomisation or other impact evaluation. Thus, when describing practices, 
we may refer to evidence that has been collected through qualitative or 
observational methodologies. In these instances, no inferences about causality 
or impact can be made, although knowledge about user views are of value. 

Throughout the report we have tried to be clear about when we are discussing 
empirical evidence on effectiveness, and where we are using the term evidence 
in a broader sense, which may include qualitative evidence such as user opinion. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 16

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

2. What does the evidence 
tell us about what is effective 
in improving outcomes for 
children in the child protection 
system?
In order to answer this question, the Department of Social Policy and Intervention 
at the University of Oxford was commissioned to undertake a rapid review of peer-
reviewed academic research.6 The specific objectives were to identify: 
• known and emerging or innovative systems and practices shown to improve 

outcomes for children who have experienced abuse and neglect or are at 
clearly identified risk of such abuse7 

• effective programmes for these groups of children, in addition to evidence 
regarding effective methods of assessment and engagement, practitioner 
training, working and management.8

The wider literature on the components of effective leadership, culture, vision and 
organisational development was not covered by this review.9 

WHAT IS A RAPID REVIEW OF PEER-REVIEWED ACADEMIC 
RESEARCH?
This stage involved a rapid review of existing reviews of evidence. In this case, 
the rapid review identified 28 reviews published between 2005 and 2016. A 
strength of this methodology is that it allowed the authors to quickly identify 
a set of consolidated messages within the research literature regarding child 
maltreatment and child protection. One disadvantage, however, is that some 
information may be out of date: information provided in a review published in 
2008, for example, can be only as recent as 2008. A second disadvantage is that 
this rapid review of reviews was necessarily not fully exhaustive. We therefore 
have provided, in the summary boxes that follow, information about additional 
interventions identified through our ongoing work more generally.

6 This section is based on strand 1 of the project. The strand paper is available at: http://www.eif.
org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview

7 The following groups of children aged 0–21 in any of the following categories were included: pre-
proceedings; s17 (CiN) including children who go missing; s47 (child protection); targeted support 
(e.g. troubled families); CSE / targeted youth support (which may indicate existence of abuse, 
neglect and other harms that are not being addressed through formal child protection processes).

8 In this context, effectiveness is defined as achievement of an intervention’s intended objectives, 
for example, reducing or eradicating the risk of further abuse to the child and supporting  recovery 
from the consequences of abuse.

9 Recent studies on this subject are available from the LGA, at: http://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/
our-improvement-offer/childrens-services-improvement 

Page 20

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/childrens-services-improvement
http://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/childrens-services-improvement


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 17

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

The term ‘child projection system’ covers a broad spectrum of services that take 
place in a local area delivered by local authorities with their public-sector partners 
and inspected by Ofsted, such as: 
• Evidence-based programmes or services: a discrete, organised package of 

practices or services, often accompanied by implementation manuals.
• Practices and approaches: techniques for bringing about change with families 

that can be either distinct (such as video feedback to strengthen parental 
sensitivity/child attachment security, or motivational interviewing) or fairly 
loosely defined (strengths-based practice).

• Processes such as assessment tools and frameworks.
• Workforce development: including training, support and skills development. 
Child protection work takes place within a complex system that can make 
evaluation difficult. Some types of activities that take place within this system are 
much more amenable to rigorous evaluation and testing than others. This means 
that evidence is not available to the same extent in relation to all of the activities 
that take place within the child protection system. 

Where is the evidence strongest, and what are the 
priorities for evaluation?
The strongest evidence relates to discrete programmes or practices. The review of 
evidence published alongside this report has identified interventions and practices 
that have been shown to be effective in improving outcomes for vulnerable 
children by robust studies. These are summarised in the section below.10 

Where families are facing complex, multi-layered problems, an integrated package 
of support is almost certainly required. The evidence points to the value of parent-
focused interventions that are underpinned by clear logic models (theories of 
change) geared to strengthening parent–child interactions and reducing child 
conduct problems.

The success of any intervention depends on a number of common elements, 
the most important of these being the quality of the therapeutic relationship 
between a practitioner and the child, parent or family. The evidence suggests that 
strengths-based approaches that acknowledge the challenges parents face are 
likely to be more effective than overly focusing on parental deficits, which is more 
likely to lead to resistance. 

In order to improve outcomes for children, interventions must be targeted very 
specifically according to the needs of families and the age of the child. It is 
important to remember that interventions that are shown to be effective for one 
type of family problem will not necessarily work if other issues are also present. 

While it is important, evidence of effectiveness is not the only consideration in local 
decision-making: factors such as cost and fit with the wider system in operation 
locally are also important. Making final decisions about specific interventions that 
could be delivered should be done by assessing potential interventions for their 
feasibility and acceptability within the local context of resources and priorities. It is 
also important to consider how far any new evidence-based intervention is likely to 
provide measurable value over and above the current provision. 

10 The programmes summarised in this overview have been identified through the systematic review 
of literature led by Anita Schrader McMillan and Jane Barlow (the strand 1 research). They are also 
based on EIF’s knowledge of programmes. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 18

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

There are some gaps in the evidence, such as what works best to improve 
outcomes for children who have experienced neglect. The review of evidence 
also identifies some activities that so far have limited evidence of impact on 
child outcomes and which are being fairly widely used in local areas – these 
should be a high priority for robust evaluation. Clarity on this is vital for effective 
commissioning and investment decisions. Local children’s services have a critical 
role to play in both applying and developing this evidence base.

Improving the quality of assessment and family 
engagement in child protection

KEY POINTS FROM THE REVIEW OF EVIDENCE: ASSESSMENT
• The use of ‘structured professional judgment’ (the combination of 

professional knowledge and assessment tools) is consistently recognised to 
be the best model of practice for social workers.

• The evidence is clear that structured risk assessment tools can structure 
and aid decision-making, but they should not be seen as a replacement for 
professional observation and judgment. 

• No risk assessment tool is fully reliable. While the best standardised 
instruments have been found to be 70–80% accurate in identifying risks of 
future harm, there are only a limited number of these tools used routinely in 
a small number of local authorities in England. 

• Risk assessment tools supported by evidence include the California Family 
Risk Assessment Tool included in the Children’s Research Centre Structured 
Decision-Making System (CRC-SDM), but this needs to be further validated 
in the UK. 

• Strengths and needs assessment tools: The review identified two tools 
developed in the UK which appeared most promising: the Graded Care 
Profile (GCP) and the Safeguarding Assessment and Analysis Framework, 
but these need formal piloting to test for reliability, validity, impact and 
acceptability. The GCP2, an updated version, has been tested for validity and 
inter-rater reliability and demonstrated good psychometric properties.

Good assessment does not in itself guarantee successful outcomes for children, 
but greatly increases the likelihood that children get appropriate help matched 
to their needs at the right time. 

The evidence shows that the relationship  between parent and worker can have a 
strong influence on the parent’s engagement with services, although it does not 
necessarily predict outcomes. Qualitative evidence supports the use of shared 
decision-making as a tool for family engagement, which is an essential step in 
being able to undertake child protection work. However, some frequently used 
methods of engaging parents, such as Family Group Conferencing, have not 
yet shown evidence of reducing child maltreatment recurrence or out-of-home 
placement, although evaluation currently underway may alter this picture.11

11 A forthcoming study on Family Group Conferences in South Leeds was due to be published by the 
University of Sheffield.

Page 22

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 19

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Interventions for children and families in the child 
protection system 

KEY POINTS FROM THE REVIEW OF EVIDENCE: PARENTAL 
ENGAGEMENT
• There is evidence supporting Motivational Interviewing as a way of 

engaging and motivating families to participate in services. However, the 
way it is delivered can significantly affect outcomes.

• Signs of Safety (SOS) is a solution-focused approach for maltreating families 
currently being widely adopted by UK local authorities. Initial studies 
conducted by the developer of SoS reported positive outcomes on client 
satisfaction, child maltreatment recurrence and out-of-home placement, but 
there are as yet but no peer-reviewed studies that have been published. The 
forthcoming Innovation Programme evaluation will fill an important gap. 

• Family group decision-making and shared decision-making between the 
practitioner and parent can improve the participation of parents and 
children, and the quality of decisions. The Family Partnership Model 
(FP), Family Group Conferencing (FGC) and Family Group Decision-
Making (FGDM) offer potential methods of engaging parents, as shown 
by qualitative evidence, although there is no evidence to date that these 
methods reduce child maltreatment recurrence or out-of-home placement. 

While, as the evidence review published alongside this report makes clear, 
‘research evidence on the effectiveness of an intervention. provides a starting 
point, rather than the final word, for effective and safe practice’, on balance, 
families and children who receive interventions shown through robust methods to 
improve outcomes are more likely to benefit, and to a greater degree, than those 
who receive other services.

The following programmes and interventions were highlighted as having good 
evidence of improving outcomes for children and families at the edge-of-care or 
experiencing particular problems.

Page 23

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 20

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY FINDINGS     |     1 of 3

PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIPS  
AND ASSOCIATED OUTCOMES

To reduce physical abuse

Evidence supports family-focused casework and enhanced versions of parenting 
programmes, such as the Incredible Years Programme.

There is evidence to support multisystemic therapy – child abuse and neglect 
(MST-CAN) as a component of treatment for physical abuse, but the impact may 
depend on the severity and complexity of the families’ problems.

Where there is emotional abuse/harmful interactions

The most consistent evidence supports the use of Parent Child Interaction 
Therapy (PCIT) for improving outcomes when there are concerns about 
physically abusive parenting. Child-Parent Psychotherapy (Lieberman model) 
and the Parent-Child Game (also known as Helping the Noncompliant Child)  
also have evidence of improving parenting behaviours and child outcomes when 
there is a known risk of child maltreatment. 

A recent trial of the Child First programme in the United States has found good 
evidence of reductions of child maltreatment in families where there is an 
identified risk. 

For children who have been neglected

The review failed to identify interventions with strong evidence of improving 
outcomes for children where neglect has been identified as the primary issue. 
We believe this to be a significant gap in the evidence base.

For children who have been sexually abused

Based on forthcoming NICE guidance

The NSPCC is currently evaluating the effectiveness of Letting the Future In (LTFI) 
for boys and girls aged 8 to 17 who have been sexually abused. 

For girls aged 6 to 14 who have been sexually abused and who are showing 
symptoms of emotional or behavioural disturbance, the recommendation 
is for careful discussion with the girl about her own preference for either 
individual-focused psychoanalytic therapy or group psychotherapeutic and 
psycho-educational sessions. Separate sessions need to be provided for the non-
offending parent or carer.

Older maltreated children with trauma symptoms

Child-parent Psychotherapy (Leiberman model), or trauma-focused cognitive 
therapy for both the child and parent, may improve parental sensitivity or 
attachment security in children and in young people with signs of trauma as a 
consequence of maltreatment.

Page 24

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 21

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY FINDINGS     |     2 of 3

SUPPORTING THE PARENT, CHILD OR BOTH  
WHERE CHILDREN ARE EXPOSED TO PARENTS  

EXPERIENCING PROBLEMS

Where a parent is substance-dependent

The Parents Under Pressure programme is currently undergoing a trial in the 
UK on the basis of preliminary evidence identified in several Australian studies. 
There is also evidence to suggest that Behavioural Couples Therapy (BCT) 
reduces substance misuse problems when offered in families where only one 
parent has a substance misuse problem. 

Studies also suggest that improved child outcomes can occur when BCT 
is combined with the Parent-Child Game (also known as Helping the 
Noncompliant Child). The extent to which BCT is available in the UK is unclear. 

Emerging, recent evidence shows promising results for the Family Drug and 
Alcohol Court programmes.

Where parents face complex problems

Integrated packages of support are likely to be required, often tailored to the 
needs of each family member – for example, a combined focus on substance use 
and parenting.

Interventions related to domestic abuse 
There are some interventions and forms of treatment that have evidence of 
improving outcomes for children who have experienced domestic abuse, although 
this is an area needing development. EIF’s 2014 review of domestic violence and 
abuse emphasised the importance of developing the evidence base on treatment 
of perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse.12 Whether or not the perpetrator 
is still living with the family is an important factor in any decisions about which 
interventions are likely to be effective. 

Domestic violence and abuse organisations have responded to the need for more 
work to develop effective interventions, particularly with respect to perpetrators. 
There is a great deal of innovation in this area, and new interventions being 
developed and tested which may improve our understanding of what is effective. 
New interventions for families currently piloted in the UK (with evaluation 
underway) include the NSPCC’s Steps to Safety programme and the Stefanou 
Foundation’s Healthy Relationships, Healthy Baby model. 

12 See: http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/early-intervention-in-domestic-violence-and-abuse/ 

Page 25

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/early-intervention-in-domestic-violence-and-abuse/


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 22

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

KEY FINDINGS     |     3 of 3

FOR FAMILIES WHERE DOMESTIC ABUSE IS PRESENT

There is moderate to strong evidence that interventions that involve mothers and 
children together appear to be more effective than community case-management 
or child-only treatment, on a range of outcomes for both mother and child. 

Intensive family preservation programmes have been shown to be more 
effective for families facing a temporary crisis, but least effective for families 
with patterns of chronic abuse and neglect.

For victims of domestic abuse

There is moderate evidence that counselling interventions may improve 
symptoms associated with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, 
anxiety, self-esteem, stress management, independence, support, re-occurrence 
of violence, birth outcomes for pregnant women, motivational level and/or 
readiness to change.

There is moderate evidence that therapy interventions may be effective in 
improving PTSD symptoms, depression, trauma symptoms, psychological and 
social outcomes, and/or parenting/family-related outcomes, and in some cases 
may reduce likelihood of future intimate partner violence (IPV) or re-abuse.

For children exposed to domestic abuse

There is some evidence to support the use of psycho-educational interventions 
based on empowerment models; multicomponent interventions (such as 
community-based service planning, nurse case management, and non-parental 
child care for disadvantaged families) with a focus on advocacy; and mother–
child therapeutic treatment. 

Child-Parent Psychotherapy (Leiberman model) also has evidence of reducing 
both parent and child symptoms of trauma in families who have experienced 
domestic abuse. 

For perpetrators of domestic abuse

Evidence on intervention programmes for perpetrators of domestic abuse tends 
to show limited effects in changing perpetrator behaviour. This is an area where 
new models are being developed, although evidence of effectiveness is at an 
early stage.

Caring Dads, Safer Children (CDSC), a fathering programme for partner-violent 
men, found evidence of sustained change among a proportion of fathers who 
completed the programme, although for some the degree of change was 
insufficient to cease monitoring contact with their families.

Page 26

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 23

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Innovative models and approaches to delivering a local 
child protection service 
The importance of an integrated approach to safeguarding and dialogue among 
all stakeholders is widely recognised. Greater integration of the work of different 
agencies with early help and social work services has long been seen as a way to 
enable earlier identification and more effective working with children at risk of 
harm. There are a range of innovative service models to facilitate better multi-
agency collaboration, such as the use of a ‘shared front door’, accepting referrals 
for both early help and social care, and providing support for all families across the 
spectrum of need and risk. 

There is some evidence that community-based models of practice can create better 
integration among child protection services, especially by having a named child 
and family team social worker attached to the service. However, there is limited 
evidence about the impact of these multi-agency approaches in terms of improving 
outcomes for vulnerable children and young people. Even the more established 
models of working, such as multi-agency safeguarding hubs (MASH), have not yet 
been subject to rigorous evaluation, despite local areas having been encouraged to 
adopt them as good practice. 

Social work practice 
The evidence review highlights that the general case management and family 
support provided by social workers in England has not been formally evaluated. 
Given that there is not a standardised model of case management or family 
support, however, such an evaluation would be difficult.

Existing studies do, however, provide some messages about effective practice and 
case work, and highlight the value of careful assessments that:
• lead to clearly specified goals and targets
• involve provision of both social work and specialist services
• involve children and families in planning, leading to the identification of clearly 

specified goals and targets concerning what needs to be changed
• and provide strong case management.

Page 27

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 24

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

3. What do we know about 
what local areas are delivering 
as part of the child protection 
system?
There is no national overview of the different approaches that local authorities 
are taking to provide a child protection system. Research in Practice was 
therefore commissioned to review the literature about current systems and 
practice in local authority child protection services, and to examine the models 
and practice in five local authorities in England.13 Focus groups and interviews 
were carried out with those responsible for different levels of decision-making 
in these five areas to provide insight into a ‘vertical slice’ of local authority 
decision-making. 

This covers:
• policy and system design (senior leaders and lead members)
• commissioning and service design (commissioners and senior service 

managers)
• practice and individual casework (principal social workers or practice 

leads and individual social work practitioners).

The role of evidence in the child protection system 
Local authorities highlighted that evidence is used throughout all stages of local 
decision-making, but is viewed as ‘just one part of the puzzle’. Participants were 
aware of the importance of using evidence and highlighted the importance 
of working within an overall strategic vision that included evidence use and 
impact measurement. Practice leads were working hard to drive and embed a 
culture in which practice is informed by evidence. 

The use of evidence was found to be more evident in commissioning and 
system design than in direct work with families. This may be because evidence 
to inform commissioning is perceived to be more available than evidence to 
inform casework. 

This may also be due to the different nature of the decisions being made. 
Commissioners make decisions about populations, while practitioners make 
decisions about individuals, directed by the needs and wishes of the child. 
Practitioners will therefore always need to balance the general messages from 
research with their knowledge of the complexities and nuances of a particular 
child’s context. 

Another issue raised was the limitations of evidence. It was felt to be important 
to recognise that there are some questions about how best to respond to 
changing needs, increasing demand and diminishing resources that research 
evidence cannot clearly answer. 

13 This section is based on strands 2 and 3 of the project. Both strand papers are available at: http://
www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview

Page 28

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 25

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Evidence in culture and vision
Local authorities participating in the research strongly emphasised the importance 
of a strong vision for the future of services as an important element in the 
development of an effective child protection system. This ‘overarching vision’ 
was identified as a driving influence behind what local authorities deliver and 
commission, and as something that shapes the context in which evidence is used 
(or not) and the priority given to it. 

Lead members, directors of children’s services and practice leads were often faced 
with the task of translating the council-wide vision into one that resonated with 
practitioners working with families. Participants did not describe using evidence 
to develop these vision statements, but instead tended to focus on other factors, 
such as the acceptability of the approach to the views and needs of practitioners 
and feedback from children and families. These overarching principles were seen 
as acting as a guide to commissioning and practice, and to help practitioners focus 
on what was important in their work with families and to provide consistency for 
partner agencies and for families. 

Evidence in commissioning and service provision
The commissioners participating in our study described beginning the decision-
making process by developing ‘a really good understanding of the problem [they] 
are trying to solve’. An understanding of local needs was typically informed by data 
analysis regarding the local population of families needing help and protection. 
This analysis would include looking at the nature and severity of support needs 
among different groups of families as a way of specifying the issues that services 
needed to address. This information was then considered against the outcomes 
that were a priority in the local area in order to identify whether existing services 
were delivering those outcomes, or whether alternatives would be more effective. 
There are sometimes exceptions to this process, such as when an issue suddenly 
shoots up the agenda to become a national priority, as demonstrated by the 
recent focus on child sexual exploitation. 

Our work with local authorities highlighted aspects of child protection work where 
there were felt to be gaps in the available evidence as to what is effective. This 
included a lack of well-evidenced interventions available to meet certain types of 
family problems – including neglect, domestic violence and child sexual exploitation – 
or to respond to families in cases where multiple needs overlap. Areas were working 
creatively and experimentally to fill these gaps, drawing on a range of sources 
including academic research and lessons from activity in other local authorities. 

Local evaluation and cost–benefit analysis
The lack of analytical capacity in local authorities was identified as a significant 
obstacle to improving the use and application of evidence in their child protection 
systems. 

The complexity of local child protection systems means that impact, attribution 
and cost-effectiveness can be very difficult to test. As a result of funding pressures 
on local government, the capacity for data collation and analysis and for engaging 
in research more widely has been pared back in many areas. Capacity to evaluate 
and monitor the impact of new approaches is currently very difficult to find. This is 
problematic in that even the best evidenced approaches need ongoing monitoring 
and testing to check if services are delivering their intended outcomes. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 26

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

This constraint also applies to the capacity required to construct the robust 
business cases needed to agree new approaches in a local area. In some of the 
areas included in our research, assumptions that had been made in business 
cases about potential savings had been broadly realised. But more commonly, 
it was difficult for areas to establish that this outcome had occurred because 
of the difficulty of evaluating impact and attribution in complex local authority 
systems. This can mean that services are unable to demonstrate that the intended 
impact has been achieved, and thus become vulnerable to pressure to find cost 
savings. This was summed up by one commissioner: ‘We’ve committed ourselves 
to working in a different way, we’ve committed huge amounts of resources to do 
it. But we don’t actually have … any sophisticated way of actually determining 
whether it’s a success or not.’

This has important implications not only for local commissioners and the quality 
of data, but also in terms of the expectations of elected members and national 
policy-makers. 

Evidence-based provision within the child protection 
system
The local authorities included in our research were delivering some of the 
services highlighted by the evidence review as being effective. These included 
intensive family support services for young people on the edge of care, Multi-
Systemic Therapy, Functional Family Therapy, therapeutic mental health services 
for victims of sexual abuse (provided by CAMHS or directly by social workers), 
and parenting programmes such as Incredible Years, Triple P, Mellow Parenting, 
and Strengthening Families and Strengthening Communities. 

While this is a very positive finding, it was also not clear how far these services 
were available to all those families who might need them, or how far there 
were families and children with needs for which there were not well-evidenced 
interventions available. 

This work also highlights the extent to which approaches described in the 
evidence review as ‘innovative but not yet evidenced’ are being widely adopted. 
Particularly notable here was the widespread activity to develop multi-
disciplinary approaches focusing solely on safeguarding, or which involved the 
integration of safeguarding and wider early help functions, such as embedding 
non-social work staff in social work teams or developing community-based 
‘family hubs’ to deliver a range of targeted support services, including some child 
protection functions. Robust evaluation of these models and the extent to which 
they improve child and family outcomes is needed. 

The relationship between child protection and early help 
Although the focus of this work was on services for children in need and those 
with child protection plans, participants in the qualitative research felt that it 
was unhelpful to view social work as ‘an island of expertise’. An effective early 
help offer is a vital part of an effective child protection system. Local authorities 
were all considering the role of social work in relation to the wider system. 
Services in place as part of authorities’ early help offer were available for social 
workers to refer into when they felt that families could benefit. The evidence 
on effectiveness in early help services is the core focus of EIF’s work – for more 
information, see: www.EIF.org.uk.

Page 30

Agenda Item 2

http://www.EIF.org.uk


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 27

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Evidence in practice and individual casework
The potential for evidence to guide direct work with children and families 
was not consistently accepted, and there was a range of views on the role of 
evidence in this respect. Social workers interviewed through our qualitative work 
described being less influenced by research in undertaking direct work with 
families than in other activities, such as assessment. Research evidence was used 
to understand risks, strengths and family dynamics, but was not seen as able to 
inform ‘what to do’ and the specifics of work with families. 

Practice leads acknowledged the difficulty of supporting social workers to use 
evidence in their direct work. This was in part due to a perceived lack of evidence 
as to what direct work with families should look like, and in part due to other 
factors – such as the experiences and wishes of families themselves and ‘accrued 
practice wisdom’ – which were felt to be equally important.

This perspective is consistent with the notion of ‘structured professional 
judgment’, through which practitioners are encouraged to use the evidence 
alongside their professional judgment and the family’s values and wishes. While 
this is a vital part of decision-making, there is an important distinction to be 
made between critically minded practice wisdom and simply doing ‘what one 
is used to’ or ‘what one feels like doing’. Practice leads have an essential role to 
play in helping practitioners make this distinction and ensuring the concept of 
‘practice wisdom’ is properly applied. 

The perceived lack of evidence to inform direct work left some social workers 
feeling unconfident. This, in turn, may lead to a tendency to ask ‘where can 
we refer into?’ rather than ‘what can we do? It can also lead social workers to 
use approaches across the spectrum ranging from what might be described as 
creative common sense through to outright guesswork. The instances cited in our 
qualitative work of less experienced social workers ‘googling for ideas’, however 
exceptional, do highlight the importance of good management and supervision. 
These kinds of examples demand that we consider how practitioners can be 
helped to develop evidence literacy and to recognise that not all knowledge is 
equally robust.

Page 31

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 28

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

4. What do we know about 
the overall effectiveness of the 
child protection system?
Attempts to improve the effectiveness of the child protection system must start 
with an understanding of the referral pathway and what the data tells us about 
the current system. Unfortunately, there are several limitations to current data 
collections that restrict our ability to make a comprehensive assessment of the 
demands on and effectiveness of the child protection system. 

In this chapter, we set out a high-level description of how the child protection 
system operates. We go on to explore the changing demands on that system 
and what we know about outcomes for children who enter it. We conclude with 
a brief comment on what we know about how the English system compares 
internationally.14,15 

Demand on the system
Understanding changes in levels and type of demands is critical for local 
authorities’ ability to effectively ‘manage their front door’ and ensure that the 
appropriate services are provided to children. Overall demand on the child 
protection system is increasing. 

However, weaknesses in the data collected means that this picture is limited, 
and it is not possible to fully understand the various factors that lie behind this 
increased demand.

A rising child population will increase demand
The Office for National Statistics (ONS) estimates that the child population 
(ages 0–17) will increase by 11% between 2014 and 2039. However, there is 
regional disparity in these increases, with London forecast to see growth of over 
20% compared with growth in the North East of just 2%. So, even if the extent 
of demand for services were to remain stable, local authorities are likely see an 
increase for services purely in terms of increased numbers of children in their 
local area.16

Wider factors may also be increasing demand on the system
Local authorities have identified a number of other factors which contribute 
to increasing demand. These include increasing poverty and related issues, 
homelessness and housing, and the parental risk factors of domestic abuse, 
mental health and substance misuse.17 Although such factors may be correlated 
with increased demand, we cannot be sure of a causal relationship, and we lack 
robust evidence of what is driving demand. 

14 This section is based on strands 4 and 5 of the project. Both strand papers are available at: http://
www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview. 
If information is based on other reports, additional footnotes are provided.

15 All data in this chapter relates to England only, unless otherwise noted.

16 Reported in: Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) (2016) Safeguarding Pressures 
Phase 5. Manchester: Association of Directors of Children’s Services Ltd. Available at: http://adcs.
org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCS_Safeguarding_Pressures_P5_REPORT_Web_FINAL.pdf

17 ADCS 2016

Page 32

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCS_Safeguarding_Pressures_P5_REPORT_Web_FINAL.pdf
http://adcs.org.uk/assets/documentation/ADCS_Safeguarding_Pressures_P5_REPORT_Web_FINAL.pdf


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 29

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Despite weaknesses, data indicates that most contacts do not result in formal 
intervention from children’s social care. Only a proportion of contacts received 
by children’s social care are accepted as referrals, with advice and information 
only provided in some instances depending on the needs of the child and family. 
However, these contacts are not recorded in any national administrative dataset. 
This means we lack robust evidence on what is driving demand, who is making 
initial contacts, and how the local context might be impacting on both early help 
and children’s social care services. 

The biennial survey conducted by ADCS provides some information regarding initial 
contacts, based on the sample of LAs which respond. One hundred and eleven LAs 
reported just under 1.7 million contacts in 2015/16,18 with only 28% resulting in a 
referral to children’s social care.19

The number of children in the child protection system has steadily 
increased
The number of referrals accepted by children’s social care is recorded and reported 
on nationally. In 2013/14, there was a sharp increase in the number of referrals 
accepted (see figure 1) and the number of children who were the subject of those 
referrals. Although there was a slight decrease in 2014/15, the number of referrals 
accepted (635,600) and the number of children (553,500) remained above those 
recorded for the 12 years prior to 2013/14.20

FIGURE 1: NUMBER OF REFERRALS ACCEPTED BY CHILDREN’S SOCIAL 
CARE (ENGLAND, 2001/02–2014/15)

This increase does not appear to be driven by a lowering of the threshold 
for acceptance into the system 
In the latest edition of its biennial ‘Safeguarding Pressures’ survey, ADCS found 
that of the 70 local authorities which responded about thresholds, 60% said their 
thresholds had not changed in the last two years. Some commented that improved 

18 ADCS 2016

19 ADCS 2016

20 In 2013/14 the number of referrals accepted increased by 64,300 (a 10.8% increase), then 
decreased by 22,000 referrals (a 3.4% decrease) in 2014/15.

Page 33

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 30

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

communication with partners and providers about their existing thresholds had 
resulted in reduced inappropriate referrals or re-referrals.21

Domestic violence and mental health are the most common reasons for 
referrals being accepted
Local authorities have to carry out a single continuous assessment within 45 
working days of accepting a referral. Data from continuous assessments was first 
reported in 2014/15, but not all local authorities provided data. These assessments 
identify factors seen as important to the safeguarding of the child. Domestic 
violence was recorded as a factor in 48% of the assessments and mental health 
(of the child, parent or other adult in the household) was a factor in 32% of the 
assessments. 

The number of children on child protection plans has increased 
dramatically, although the duration has decreased
The number of children who were the subject of a child protection plan in 2014/15 
has increased 124% since 2002, to 62,210 in 2015 (see figure 2).  

FIGURE 2: NUMBER OF CHILD PROTECTION PLANS(ENGLAND, 2002–
2015)

However, the number of children who are subject to plans22 for longer than two 
years has been decreasing since 1993/94. In 2015/14, less than 3.7% of children 
coming off a child protection plan had been on the plan for more than two years 
(see figure 3).

21 ADCS 2016

22 Includes both child protection plans and child protection register data.

Page 34

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 31

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

FIGURE 3: NUMBER (LEFT) AND PERCENTAGE (RIGHT) OF CHILD 
PROTECTION PLANS LASTING 2 YEARS OR MORE (ENGLAND, 2002/03–
2014/15)

There has been slight increase since 2010/11 in the number of children who are 
subject to a second or subsequent plan. In 2014/15, 17% of children who become 
subject to a plan were on their second or subsequent plan. 

FIGURE 4: PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN WHO BECAME SUBJECT TO A 
PLAN FOR A SECOND OR SUBSEQUENT TIME (ENGLAND, 2001/02–
2014/15)

In the ADCS survey, 38% of the 123 LAs that responded to questions about child 
protection plans saw an increase in children going back on plans.23 However, the 
reasons for this are not well understood and careful analysis is needed in each area 
to determine if this is because children are coming off plans too early or if their 
circumstances have changed, necessitating a subsequent plan.

23 ADCS 2016

Page 35

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 32

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Understanding demand: conclusions
Overall, demand on the child protection system is increasing. However, weaknesses 
in the data collected means this is a limited picture and so it is not possible to 
understand fully the various factors that lie behind increased demand and the 
extent to which this is driven by changes to the system, to funding or changes in 
the nature of the local child population.

Outcomes of the child protection system
Despite some national indicators indicating an improving picture, there remains a 
large amount we don’t know about the effectiveness of the child protection system 
as a whole, and a lack of consensus on ‘what good looks like’.

Most data is focused on numbers of children (demand) and process 
measures rather than outcomes for individual children
Where individual child outcome data is known, there is no tracking to monitor 
outcomes once they have left the child protection system. This leaves considerable 
gaps in our understanding as to how far the current system is successful in making 
children safer and improving their outcomes. 

But we do have some indication about whether children are safer today 
The 2016 How safe are our children report? by the NSPCC24 described some 
positive trends in relation to child safety. A continued increase in reports of abuse 
and neglect over the past five years was observed, which the report notes is likely 
due to an increased willingness to speak up about maltreatment. There is some 
evidence that today’s children are safer from abuse and neglect than those of 
previous generations. The child homicide rate is in long-term decline, and fewer 
children are dying as a result of assault or suicide in England. 

It also appears that the prevalence of some forms of child maltreatment is 
declining in the UK. However, data regarding prevalence of child maltreatment has 
not been gathered since 2009.

There is a lack of agreement on ‘what good looks like’ 
While individual examples of good work may look different in different places 
for different children, we still need to do more to understand whether the child 
protection system as a whole is working well for children. However, a recent 
study25 that aimed to define ‘good’ children’s social care services and understand 
how this level of performance had been achieved concluded it was an impossible 
task, because of the lack of consensus about any shared set of outcomes that 
the system is trying to achieve. The researchers attempted to use data already 
collected to provide some indication of child outcomes, which included measures 
such as return home from care, missing from care, offending and repeat child 
protection plans. Their analysis of the relationship between this data and Ofsted 
ratings of children’s services found very little association. The authors suggest there 
is a need to develop and agree an outcomes framework for children’s social care 
and to establish a set of nationally collated indicators that reflect these outcomes.

24 Bentley, H., O’Hagan, O, Raff, A. and Bhatti, I. (2016) How safe are our children? The most 
comprehensive overview of child protection in the UK 2016. London: NSPCC. Available at: https://
www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2016/how-safe-are-our-
children-2016/ 

25 La Valle, I., Holmes, L., Gill, C., Brown, R., Hart, Di., Barnard, M. (2016). Improving Children’s Social 
Care Services: Results of a feasibility study. London: CAMHS Press. Available at: http://www.corc.
uk.net/improving-childrens-social-care-services/

Page 36

Agenda Item 2

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2016/how-safe-are-our-children-2016/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2016/how-safe-are-our-children-2016/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-resources/2016/how-safe-are-our-children-2016/
http://www.corc.uk.net/improving-childrens-social-care-services/
http://www.corc.uk.net/improving-childrens-social-care-services/


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 33

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

Without an agreed outcomes framework, other methods have been used to try 
to determine the quality of the system. Current Ofsted judgments26 conclude that 
22% of the services it has inspected since 2013 are inadequate, while a further 46% 
still require improvement to be good. This is not typical of all services inspected by 
Ofsted: 88% of schools and 73% of children’s homes were found to be providing 
good or outstanding services. 

Analysis did not show any clear relationship between authorities’ ratings and levels 
of deprivation, region, numbers of children or the amount spent on children in 
need.27 It should be noted that concerns have been expressed over the reliability 
of the available data on local authorities’ spending.28

Local levels of deprivation are associated with the services children receive
Recent research shows that children are 10 times more likely to be on a child 
protection plan and over 11 times more likely to be looked after if they live 
in the most deprived 10% of local authorities compared to the least deprived 
10%.29 It also indicates that more advantaged local authorities spend more 
on interventions for children and families with more complex needs than 
disadvantaged local authorities. 

However, the NAO has found that spending more does not directly correlate to 
being rated as good30 by Ofsted. Spending on children’s social work, including 
on child protection, varies widely across England. The current local authority 
average per child in need of help or protection is £2,300, with a range of £340 
per child in one local authority to £4,970 in another. The NAO was unable to find 
clear explanations for the variation in spending by local authorities. However, 
research from CIPFA has described the process by which councils report spending 
to government (section 251 returns) as ‘not fit for purpose’ due to the wide 
variance in methods used to attribute costs.31

International comparisons
Internationally, the ability to compare between countries is made difficult by 
a lack of nationally published administrative data, systems that approach child 
protection differently, and variation in definitions for key terms such as ‘abuse’ 
and ‘neglect’. The research paper on international trend data on child protection 
indicators32 contains an overview of administrative data that is readily available 
for comparison.

26 National Audit Office (NAO) (2016) Children in need of help or protection. London: National Audit 
Office. Available at: https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Children-in-need-of-
help-protection.pdf

27 NAO 2016

28 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (2014) Children’s Services Spending 
and Budgeting Research. London: CIPFA. Available at: http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/
childrens-services-finance-advisory-network/briefings/childrens-services-spending-and-budgeting-
research-cipfa-dec-2014  

29 Bywaters, P., Brady, G., Sparks, T., & Bos, E. (2014). Child welfare inequalities: New evidence, 
further questions. Child & Family Social Work. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/
doi/10.1111/cfs.12154/full

30 NAO 2016 

31 CIPFA 2014

32 Available at: http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-
protection-system-overview 

Page 37

Agenda Item 2

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Children-in-need-of-help-protection.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Children-in-need-of-help-protection.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/childrens-services-finance-advisory-network/briefings/childrens-services-spending-and-budgeting-research-cipfa-dec-2014
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/childrens-services-finance-advisory-network/briefings/childrens-services-spending-and-budgeting-research-cipfa-dec-2014
http://www.cipfa.org/services/networks/childrens-services-finance-advisory-network/briefings/childrens-services-spending-and-budgeting-research-cipfa-dec-2014
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/cfs.12154/full
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/cfs.12154/full
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview
http://www.eif.org.uk/publication/improving-the-effectiveness-of-the-child-protection-system-overview


Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 34

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

5. Conclusions and 
recommendations 

Key findings and conclusions
The child protection system plays a vital role in improving the lives and outcomes of 
some of the most vulnerable children in society. Despite some national indicators 
demonstrating an improving picture, we have limited understanding of the 
effectiveness of the child protection system overall. Ofsted inspection ratings indicate 
that issues remain in a number of areas. However, we need to develop a better 
understanding of what ‘good’ children’s social care actually looks like – particularly as 
pressure on services continues to increase on the back of rising demand. 

Our research has identified a significant gap between ‘what is known to be effective’ 
from peer-reviewed studies and what is actually delivered in local child protection 
systems. While the complex reality of decision-making in local authorities means 
that evidence of effectiveness will always be only one consideration among many, 
evidence could and should play a greater role than is currently the case.

There are some interventions that have been shown to be effective in improving 
outcomes for very vulnerable children that are not currently being widely 
delivered. These interventions could help improve outcomes for the most 
vulnerable children if properly implemented and targeted to the needs of 
families and the age of child. 

There are also approaches being widely delivered in local areas that have not 
yet been robustly evaluated. While published research evidence is always 
likely to be some way behind innovative practice, ensuring robust testing and 
monitoring of some of the widely used approaches that do not, as yet, have 
any evidence of impact on outcomes for children is important. It is important 
to recognise that it is not only new innovations that need to be tested, but also 
some approaches that have been delivered for some time without having been 
subject to proper evaluation. 

Our work has also highlighted some gaps in the evidence. There is more evidence 
of effectiveness for discrete aspects of child protection activity – such as 
manualised programmes or certain assessment tools – and far less for practice 
or casework, which arguably form a much greater part of social work activity. In 
many ways, this is not surprising: it is not possible to develop robust evidence of 
impact equally across all of the activities within the children’s social care system. 
For those activities that are less amenable to traditional impact evaluation, then, it 
is important that other types of evidence, such as qualitative research and service 
user perspectives, are available and used to guide decision-making. 

Triangulating different sources of knowledge within a structured professional 
judgement is a vital part of decision-making. Practice leads have a vital role 
to play in ensuring the concept of ‘practice wisdom’ is properly applied and in 
helping practitioners to make the distinction between critically-minded practice 
wisdom and simply ‘doing what they are used to’.

In conclusion, there is scope to reduce the distance between the worlds of evidence 
and local decision-making, and to build on the commitment of those working in the 
child protection system to provide effective support to children and families. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 35

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

This requires a variety of bodies to work collaboratively. 
• Those working in policy can provide support by actively role-modelling the 

use of evidence and identifying how best to support local areas with reduced 
capacity to engage in evidence generation, analysis and application. 

• Those working to create and disseminate evidence can improve the 
accessibility and applicability of evidence, and have a great deal to offer 
in helping practitioners and local leaders to develop evidence literacy. The 
Department for Education’s plans to establish a new What Works Centre for 
Children’s Social Care provides an important opportunity to create the central 
infrastructure needed to respond to some of these issues. The new What 
Works Centre and EIF should work together to develop and communicate clear 
messages about what has been shown to be effective for children and families 
across the whole spectrum of need from early help to child protection. 

• Those working locally have an invaluable contribution to make in helping 
to create a culture where evidence is routinely used in decision-making, 
commissioning and direct work with families. The leadership, passion and 
dedication of such colleagues is vital to embedding a culture of evidence 
use, and ultimately to ensuring that children and families receive the best 
possible support. 

Priorities for action

1. Supporting use of evidence of effectiveness and overcoming 
misconceptions about gaps in the evidence
Specifically, those working in evidence generation and knowledge brokerage need 
to do more to:
• Communicate the nature of the evidence for child protection to local leaders 

and commissioners, including which activities are supported by good evidence, 
which activities are harder to evaluate, and where the gaps are. 

• Guide local decisions by providing clear information about which approaches 
are likely to provide the most effective help and protection and those that have 
yet to demonstrate impact on outcomes for children. 

• Make it clear whether and how particular circumstances and local context 
might impact upon the effectiveness of an intervention. 

2. Building ‘evidence literacy’ among local leaders, commissioners and 
practitioners
• It is important to ensure that the way evidence is presented helps to build 

awareness of why evidence matters and makes clear to practitioners how the 
evidence in question can underpin professional judgment and direct work.

• At a practice level, it is vital that social workers feel confident in using evidence 
and in playing a role in generating new evidence.

3. Filling the gaps in the evidence
This work highlights some clear gaps and issues in relation to the available 
evidence that need to be addressed by all those with an interest in ensuring child 
protection work is informed by evidence. 

Developing evidence of impact takes time, and the evidence base is always some 
distance behind innovation. Nevertheless, it is vitally important that it keeps pace 
with local delivery and the realities of the sector in a time of increasing demand 
and fewer resources. Funding that is currently available for generating evidence 

Page 39

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 36

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017

to support child protection could be usefully directed towards evaluating some of 
the widely used approaches that have not yet been well evaluated, such as multi-
agency safeguarding hubs (MASH) and multi-disciplinary delivery models.

This information should also include detail about the costs of delivery and cost–
benefit analysis, to help other areas develop business cases. 

4. Supporting the analytical capacity in local areas
Action is needed to develop the analytical capacity in children’s social care to 
understand the nature of their local demand and apply the evidence as it relates 
to leadership, commissioning and practice. Support to test and monitor local 
approaches is particularly important to reduce the volume of activity where very 
little is known about impact or outcomes. Government, in close partnership with 
the sector, has an important role to play in providing assistance or capacity in local 
areas that have had to reduce own their internal capacity for evidence appraisal 
and data analysis.

  

Page 40

Agenda Item 2



Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system: Overview 37

Early Intervention Foundation  |  www.EIF.org.uk June 2017Page 41

Agenda Item 2





 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

Post-election lobbying priorities 

Purpose   
 
For discussion and direction. 
 
Summary 
 
This report proposes key post-election priorities for consideration and discussion by the 
Board. It focuses on education and children’s services, but other issues which are a shared 
responsibility with other Boards, such as child and adolescent mental health and 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children, will continue as Board priorities. 
 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
The Children and Young People Board is asked to; 

 

1. Discuss and consider the proposed post-election priorities set out in the report. 
 

2. Agree the post-election priorities for the Children and Young People Board. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to action as appropriate. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Ian Keating/Ian Dean 

Position: Principal Policy Adviser/Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7664 3032/020 7665 3878 

Email: Ian.keating@local.gov.uk / ian.dean@local.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 43

Agenda Item 3

mailto:Ian.keating@local.gov.uk
mailto:ian.dean@local.gov.uk


 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

  

Post-election lobbying priorities 
 

Children’s social care funding 
 
1. In many parts of the country, financial pressure on children’s services is now exceeding 

that on adult social care. LGA analysis shows a £2 billion funding gap for children’s 
services by 2020, fuelled in part by a significant rise in demand. 

 
2. The rate of section 47 enquiries into child protection concerns have increased by 140 per 

cent over the past decade, and the number of children needing child protection plans 
have increased from 26,400 to more than 50,000 over the same period – an increase of 
more than 23,000 children needing social work support to stay safe from significant harm. 
Councils have worked hard to protect funding for front-line child protection services in 
response to this rapidly rising demand, but the wider context of 40 per cent cuts to local 
authority budgets over the previous parliament have left many areas facing extremely 
difficult decisions in deciding how to allocate increasingly scarce resources. 

 
3. Recent LGA analysis shows that the government’s Early Intervention Grant has been cut 

by almost £400 million since 2013, and is projected to drop by a further £300 million by 
2020. Without this funding, councils have found it increasingly difficult to invest in early 
help services as resources are taken up by the provision of urgent support for the rising 
numbers of children and families already at crisis point. This is perhaps most starkly 
illustrated by the closure of 365 children’s centres and 603 youth centres since 2012, as 
local authorities are forced to make difficult decisions about the way in which they deliver 
these services. 

 
4. Working with our partners across the children’s services sector, we will continue to 

urge government to act quickly to close this significant funding gap and ensure 
that councils can continue to provide essential services for vulnerable children 
and families. 

 

Children’s services improvement 
 
5. We are concerned about the effectiveness of the Department for Education’s (DfE) social 

care improvement model, which remains overly-reliant on structural change as a driver 
for improvement despite its high cost and a lack of evidence of effectiveness. 

 
6. DfE investment has, to date, focused on councils judged to be Inadequate by Ofsted and 

in Good/Outstanding councils than can act as innovators and beacons of good practice 
(via the Partners in Practice and Innovation programmes). We believe that to achieve the 
National Audit Office aim of seeing more Good or better children’s services by 2020, a 
more comprehensive improvement offer needs to be made available to councils, with a 
specific offer to the majority of councils that Require Improvement. This needs to make 
use of the expertise of the whole sector, including the political and corporate leadership 
of councils. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

7. The LGA will lobby government to support sector-led improvement in children’s 
services by committing to devolve a proportion of DfE’s £300 million budget for 
improvement and innovation in children’s services to councils. This will allow the 
LGA, together with our partners at ADCS and Solace, to deliver an enhanced programme 
of sector-led support for children’s services, offering everything from regular ‘health 
checks’ and training for lead members and senior officers, to specific support for those 
councils judged to require improvement. 

 
The council role in education and school improvement 
 
8. In January this year Office Holders wrote to the Secretary of State for Education Justine 

Greening MP, calling for a ‘reset’ in relationships between the Department for Education 
(DfE) and clarity on the council role in education and school improvement. The Chair and 
LGA Officers have engaged in detailed discussions with DfE officials to take forward a 
‘reset’ with a first aim being the production of new non-statutory Government guidance on 
the role of councils and other partners in the local education system. 

 
9. Following a pause during the General Elections, discussions will continue with a focus on 

changes to the current arrangements that will not require primary legislation, as no 
education bills were announced in the Queen’s Speech or are expected in the current 
two-year Parliamentary Session. 

 
10. A key issue is the continuing council role in school improvement. Councils have the 

primary responsibility for ensuring that every child has access to a place at a good school 
and an excellent track record in supporting school improvement, with 91 per cent of 
council maintained schools now rated as either good or outstanding by Ofsted.  

 
11. As there are no proposals to change the legislation that requires inadequate maintained 

schools to be converted to academies and a shortage of high-performing academy 
sponsors in many areas, Government policy should be changed to allow councils 
and maintained schools to set up Multi Academy Trusts and take over failing 
maintained schools and academies if they have an good track record in school 
improvement. This would not require legislative change. 

 
12. Another key issue is that council responsibility to protect the interests of the most 

vulnerable pupils is not matched by adequate powers in relation to academies if local 
agreement cannot be reached. Councils must be given the same powers to direct 
academies to admit vulnerable pupils as they currently hold for maintained 
schools. In the absence of legislative change in this area, the Education Funding Agency 
(EFA), which currently has the power to direct academies must make decisions in a 
transparent way which are in the best interests of children. Currently 88 per cent of 
council requests for direction are rejected, which suggests a greater EFA focus on 
academy freedoms. 

 

Providing new school places 
 
13. Councils have the unique responsibility to make sure that there are enough school places 

in their area. They have responded well to sharply increasing demand for new school 

Page 45

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

places, creating nearly 600,000 new places since 2010, mostly by expanding existing 
council-maintained primary schools. However, they are unable to directly commission the 
building of new schools with final decisions about where and how places are provided 
taken by the Secretary of State in Whitehall. Councils should have the lead role in 
commissioning new free schools to make sure they provide places where they are 
most needed and do not destabilise existing good and outstanding schools.  

 
14. By 2021, an additional 420,000 new school places will be needed. The majority of these 

will need to be created in secondary schools as the demand spike moves through the 
school system. With nearly 70 per cent of secondary schools now academies or free 
schools, the lack of any council power or influence over the expansion and admissions 
policies of these schools is a real concern. Councils should have the same power to 
direct academies to expand to meet increasing local demand for school places if 
local agreement cannot be reached as they currently have for maintained schools. 
This is likely to require legislative change. 

  
15. A recent National Audit Office report found that “the system for funding new schools and 

new places in existing schools is increasingly incoherent and too often poor value for 
money”. The system is centrally controlled and highly fragmented, with three separate 
funding streams for rebuilding schools, school maintenance and new school places. The 
system for allocating schools capital should be urgently reviewed to allow schools 
and councils to work together to join up fragmented funding streams locally in a 
single local capital pot and provide best value for money in the spending of limited 
capital resources for schools.  

 

School funding 
 

16. A national formula to ensure fairness between schools in different areas is welcome. But 
under Government proposals published before the election, the budgets of 22,000 
schools will be set in Whitehall, with no possibility that schools and councils can agree a 
slightly different allocation to reflect local needs and circumstances.  
 

17. An element of local flexibility must be retained in the implementation of a new 
national school funding formula. Schools should also be given greater certainty of 
future funding, with three year budgets, to help them plan for the spending pressures they 
face.  

 

18. We are disappointed that the Queen’s Speech did not give schools and councils any 
detail on how much additional funding, if any, will be committed to education or how the 
Government’s school funding reforms will be implemented. If there are to be changes for 
2018/19, schools will need certainty about their future funding by the autumn at the latest, 
to ensure no schools lose out.  

 
19. With schools funding maintained at a cash flat level since 2015, the High Needs budget 

that finances SEND provision has been frozen, putting local budgets under increasing 
pressure. However, demand for more expensive places is increasing sharply. In the past 
four years there has been a substantial increase in the number of pupils with SEND who 
attend a specialist school setting, up from 5.6 per cent in 2012 to 8.5 per cent in 2016. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

Councils must be adequately funded to meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEND in their communities. 

 
Implications for Wales 1 
 
20. There are no specific implications for Wales. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
21. None.  

 
Next Steps 
 
22. The Children and Young People Board is asked to; 

 
22.1. Discuss and consider the proposed post-election priorities set out in the report. 

 
22.2. Agree the post-election priorities for the Children and Young People Board. 

 
 

 
 

                                           
1
 The WLGA pays a membership fee to the LGA on behalf of all Welsh councils and we lobby for them on “non-devolved” issues 

- e.g. DWP work.  The WLGA provides “top-slice” for workforce support, but none for “improvement”.  

Page 47

Agenda Item 3





 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

Children and Young People Board – End of Year Board Report 

Purpose  
 
For information and discussion. 
 
Summary 
 
This report provides an overview of the issues and work the Board has overseen during last 
year. It sets out key achievements in relation to the priorities for the CYP Board in 
2016/2017. 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
Members are invited to note the achievements against the Board’s priorities in 2016/17. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to action as appropriate. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Ian Keating 

Position: Principal Policy Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7664 3032 

Email: Ian.keating@local.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 49

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Ian.keating@local.gov.uk


 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

 

Children and Young People Board – End of Year Board Report 
 
Education and schools 
 
1. Although the Government announced in May 2016 that it would no longer legislate to 

force all council maintained schools to become academies, it remained committed to end 
the statutory council role in school improvement and to cut the Education Services Grant 
paid to councils by £600 million. The LGA continued lobby against these proposals and 
highlighted the excellent track record of councils in school improvement.  

 
2. In October 2016 the new Secretary of State Justine Greening announced that the 

Government would not proceed with an Education Bill and would pay councils an annual 
£50 million grant in recognition of their continuing role in school oversight and 
improvement. Councils and council-maintained schools would also be able to bid into a 
£140 million per annum Strategic School Improvement Fund to support struggling 
schools. Previously it was the Government’s intention that only academies and academy 
chains would qualify for school improvement funding. 

 
3. In January the Board’s Office Holders wrote to Justine Greening calling for a ‘reset’ of 

relationships between councils and the Department for Education, giving councils a clear 
strategic role in education, with the powers and funding necessary to effectively perform 
the role. Detailed discussions with civil servants to take forward the reset were paused 
during the General Election, but will now resume with the aim of producing non-statutory 
guidance which sets out the role of councils and other partners such as Regional Schools 
Commissioners in driving school improvement. 

 
4. The LGA response to the second stage consultation on the introduction of a fairer 

national schools funding formula emphasised the need to retain some local flexibility in 
the application of the new formula. We highlighted the cost pressures in the High Needs 
Block which supports pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities and called 
for adequate funding. The Government’s response to the consultation, delayed by the 
election, is expected before the summer recess. 

 
Early Years 
 
5. The LGA hosted a conference, in partnership with Public Health England and the 

Association of Directors of Children’s Services, for councillors and practitioners to 
consider how to achieve the best outcomes for children in their early years. Discussion 
topics included the introduction of 30 hours free childcare, the future of children’s centre 
services, and the impact of housing and homelessness on children. 

 
Children's Social Care 
 
6. The LGA lobbied extensively around the Children and Social Work Bill as it went through 

Parliament. We welcomed the legislation’s strong focus on support for children in care, 
including the corporate parenting role, though we highlighted the need for adequate new 
burdens funding for new and extended provisions. We were also pleased that the 

Page 50

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

Government accepted our call for sex and relationships education to be compulsory in all 
schools, including academies.  

 
7. While we welcomed moves to allow more local flexibility in local children’s safeguarding 

arrangements, we continue to be concerned around the involvement of some non-
statutory partners, and continue to work with the Department for Education on guidance 
to ensure appropriate working with key partners such as schools. We raised concerns 
about direct ministerial control of the proposed new social work regulator and were 
pleased the Government redrafted the Bill to give Social Work England greater statutory 
independence.  

 
8. The Bill initially contained provisions allowing the Secretary of State to relax or amend 

children’s social care legislation in a local authority in intervention, without proper local 
consultation or consent. We worked with parliamentarians to persuade the Government 
to remove this power, though the proposal was eventually withdrawn in its entirety by the 
Government. 
 

9. We have been active participants in the Department for Education’s early engagement 
with the sector on its Fostering Stocktake, helping to shape the key lines of enquiry and 
to ensure local government’s concerns and strengths are adequately represented. We 
also secured a commitment from the largest fostering company in the UK to end the 
practice of offering financial incentives to entice foster carers away from local authorities. 
 

10. The LGA was part of the winning bid to run the Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual 
Abuse, working with Barnardo’s and other partners to bring about system-wide change in 
how child sexual abuse is responded to locally and nationally through the use of 
evidence-based policy and practice. The LGA has also continued to work with Barnardo’s 
on the National FGM Centre, which aims to end new cases of FGM within 15 years by 
building effective strategies for the identification and support of at-risk girls and changing 
community attitudes. 

 
Children’s Health 

 
11. We produced a number of publications focussing on the health of children and young 

people. In December, the Healthy futures: supporting and promoting the health needs of 
looked after children publication highlighted that health (especially mental health) 
outcomes for looked after children are significantly worse than for the child population as 
a whole. The case studies highlighted both the council’s public health responsibilities but 
also their corporate parenting role in supporting vulnerable children and the need for 
closer working between children’s services, schools and public health colleagues.  
 

12. Working to support positive parenting and relationships. What can councils do? 
recognised a renewed council focus on initiatives to support parents, given the body of 
evidence which shows that the quality of parent-child relationships particularly in the early 
years, is a key influencer on the social determinants of health throughout the life course.  

 
13. In October 2016, Public Health England undertook a review of the five mandated health 

visitor checks delivered by health visitors between birth and two and a half years to 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/healthy-futures-supportin-9cf.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/healthy-futures-supportin-9cf.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/working-support-positive--437.pdf


 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

provide advice to the government on whether the mandation should continue following 
regulations expiring in March 2017. In anticipation of future changes to public health 
funding, the LGA (with other local sector partners including SOLACE, ADPH and ADCS) 
argued that mandation should be considered alongside the work on business rates 
retention and the public health grant. 

 
14. In March 2017 the government confirmed that the five mandated health visitor checks 

would continue. The LGA publication Improving outcomes for children and families in the 
early years: a key role for health visiting services demonstrated through a series of local 
council case studies how councils have used the transfer of commissioning 
responsibilities for the 0-5 Healthy Child Programme, as an opportunity to translate 
PHE’s six early years high impact areas into local context, focussing commissioning on 
the particular health issues that are most relevant for the 0-5 population in their local 
communities.  

 
15. In February 2017 lead members of the Community Wellbeing Board and Children and 

Young People Board hosted a special meeting on children and young people mental 
health and wellbeing, inviting a range of different stakeholder representatives to form a 
rounded understand of the issues and determine future work priorities. The need for 
greater local accountability on spend and quality of services and building the capacity 
and capability of the providers in the system emerged as two key themes which will be 
taken forward over the coming months. 

 
LGA Asylum, Refugee and Migration Task Group 
 
16. The LGA Asylum, Refugee and Migration Task Group reports to both the Community 

Wellbeing and Children and Young People Board. Chaired by Cllr David Simmonds, the 
Task Group and cross-Board lead LGA members have been involved in the development 
of a range of national schemes that support refugees and asylum seekers, including 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children. The LGA contributed directly to the response to 
the Calais camp clearance and the development of a national transfer scheme for 
unaccompanied children, including securing a significant uplift in funding rates for local 
authorities.  
 

17. Working with local authorities, regional bodies and national partners, we are continuing to 
flag key issues including the need for additional resources, greater alignment across 
programmes and more transparent and real time data. This has included a meeting and 
an event with the Immigration Minister in November and February respectively, and 
resources and information to support councils as outlined on the LGA website. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/improving-outcomes-childr-bf1.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/improving-outcomes-childr-bf1.pdf


Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 5





 
 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 
 

                                                                          

Note of last Children & Young People Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

Children & Young People Board 

Date: 
 

Thursday 23 March 2017 

Venue: Rooms A&B, Ground Floor, Layden House, 76-86 Turnmill Street, 
London, EC1M 5LG 

  

 
Attendance 
An attendance list is attached as Appendix A to this note 

 
 

Item Decisions and actions  
 

1   Declarations of Interest 
  

 

 The Chair welcomed the Board and those observing.  
 

 

2   National Youth Agency 
  

 

 The Chair introduced Jon Boagey, Associate Director of the National Youth Agency 
(NYA), and Amanda Fearn, Programme Manager at the NYA. 
 
Jon Boagey gave a presentation to the Board on the work that the NYA have been 
undertaking. In his presentation he raised the following points: 
 

 The NYA had focused on their core strengths in workforce development, 
education and training standards as well as the personal and social 
development of young people. They had also focused on training professional 
youth workers and partnership work with local authorities.  

 He brought members attention to their partnership work with the National 
Citizen Service which has proven to be a very successful programme in the 
North East.  

 Regarding their work around apprenticeships the NYA were now focused on 
apprentice retention. He informed members that ensuring young people finish 
their apprenticeship and stay in work will continue to be a challenging and 
important role of the NYA. 

 He brought members attention to new work they were doing look into financial 
capability, including debt advice. He emphasised that they had been engaging 
with councils regarding this work and would continue to argue there is an 
important role for the NYA and councils to play in preventative work.  

 He expressed a view that many councils wished to retain universal youth work 
provisions, but they are struggling to do so. This has led to a decline in access 
to the provision. 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 

 That many councils were setting up arm’s length bodies were being set up to 
take on these responsibilities. He raised a concern as to the sustainability of 
these organisations beyond their initial opening.  

 He explained that the NYA was seeking more collaboration with partners and 
more sharing of good practice.  

 He also advised that moving forward we should focus on investing more into 
young people’s life skills. 

  
In the discussion that followed, Members raised the following points; 
 

 A concern was raised that grant givers were not supporting some local 
authorities based on the quality of life in much of their area, despite having 
some areas of deprivation. 

 That local authorities would continue to require strict value for money when 
ensuring youth services are provided in their area. 

 That a survey of good practice and what works well in different areas would be 
extremely valuable in informing the roundtable meeting suggested in the report. 

 A view was expressed that the National Youth Parliament should also be 
involved.  

 
Decision 
 
The Board discussed and considered issues facing councils in fulfilling their youth 
services duties and what the LGA can do to support councils in this area. The Board 
also approved a roundtable meeting with partners to support the development of LGA 
policy around youth services. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to arrange a roundtable meeting with partners to support the development of 
LGA policy around youth services. 
 

3   Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse 
  

 

 The Chair introduced Cassandra Harrison, Director of the Centre of Expertise on Child 
Sexual Abuse.  
 
Cassandra updated the Board on the Centre’s current work and plans to develop a 
comprehensive programme of research and evaluation over the coming years. She 
explained their aim was to have a positive impact in improving both policy and practice 
at local and national levels by identifying, through strong evidence, effective practice in 
preventing and responding to child sexual abuse.  
 
In the discussion that followed Members raised the following points; 
 

 That the work of the Centre must be grounded in the operational realities facing 
local authorities and their partners in order to have a real impact on practice. 

 A view was expressed that there should be a focus on improving collaborative 
work across local authority boundaries.  

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 

 Members emphasised the importance of early identification and prevention, 
rather than focussing entirely on activity to address CSA once it has already 
been identified  

 The Chair emphasised the importance of addressing victim trauma and 
providing long term support.  

 
The Chair advised that the Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse will report back 
to the Board on their progress in 2018. As the LGA’s representative on the Centre’s 
advisory board, Ian Dean offered to act as the main contact for Board Members to feed 
into the Centre’s work in the meantime. 
 
Decision 
 
The Board noted the current activity of the Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse 
and provided comments on future areas for the Centre’s research, evaluation and 
practice development activity over the coming years. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to arrange for the Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse to report back to 
the Board in 2018. 
 
Members to contact ian.dean@local.gov.uk with any specific feedback or suggestions 
for the Centre. 
 

4   Update on lead members' special meeting on children and young people's mental 
health and wellbeing 
  

 

 Deepa Patel, Adviser, introduced the report updating the Board on the lead members' 
special meeting on children and young people's mental health and wellbeing and 
seeking the Boards views on resulting actions and next steps. She informed the Board 
that, based on the issues identified by lead members at the special meeting, suggested 
actions had been detailed in the report. Members were asked whether they would like 
to suggest any additional actions or identify if any should be prioritised.  
 
The Chair expressed a view that the lead members' special meeting on children and 
young people's mental health and wellbeing had been very valuable. 
 
In the discussion that followed, the Board raised the following points: 
 

 A concern was raised that were there to be a radical shake up of services, 
providers could be destabilised. 

 A view was expressed that officers should be mindful of issues emerging in the 
mental health support of children who have been moved across regional or 
national boundaries.  

 Members raised concerns as to workforce issues in Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS). A member informed the Board that the 
National Youth Parliament had expressed similar concerns. 

 A view was expressed that care leavers must be considered in forthcoming LGA 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6

mailto:ian.dean@local.gov.uk


 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 

work on children and young people's mental health and wellbeing.  

 The Chair  suggested that the proposed round table discussion should have a 
focus on identifying further work to build the capacity of providers to delivery 
services that achieve the transformative change described in the government 
initiative ‘Future in Mind’ that aims to transform the way CAMHS are delivered 
nationally. 

 
Decision 
 
The Board noted the report and provided their views on the suggested actions. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to incorporate the Board’s views in forthcoming work as detailed in the report, 
with priority given to the suggested round table discussion. 
 

5   Promoting sector-led improvement in children's services 
  

 

 Clive Harris, Senior Adviser, introduced the report updating the Board on discussions 
with the Department of Education on a proposed programme of council-led support to 
improve Children’s Services. He asked for the Board’s views on the proposed content 
of a sector led improvement offer and to consider additional lobbying opportunities. 
 
The Chair expressed a view that if local authorities were going to be credible players in 
the improvement sector going forward then we would need a thorough analysis of the 
opportunities available as well as to have a credible voice and response to the 
Department of Education.  
 
In the discussion that follow, the Board raised the following points: 
 

 Concerns were raised over the impact of waiting for Ofsted assessment on the 
officers of the 38 local authorities who have yet to be assessed. The Chair 
endorsed members concerns and asked this be raised in future discussion with 
Ofsted. 

 A member suggested partnership and mentoring work for local authorities who 
are failing to provide a good children’s service to support their improvement. 

 A view was expressed that good political leadership in children’s services would 
be of great importance going forward. 

 
Decision 
 
The Board considered the report and provided comments. 
 
Action   
 
Officers to incorporate the Board’s feedback into future discussions with the 
Department for Education on sector-led improvement in children’s services. 
 
 

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 

6   Education Update 
  

 

 The Chair introduced the Education Update discussion item to the Board. He 
expressed views that there was a need for the Department of Education to give greater 
acknowledgement to the role local authorities play in education, that there was a broad 
acceptance that heavy structural change in a school does not necessarily bring 
improvement and that a strong evidence base would be required going forward.  
 
Sally Burlington, Senior Policy Adviser, explained that the letter accompanying the 
report was jointly written by the Children and Young People Board lead members to the 
Secretary of State for Education at the start of January, setting out proposals for four 
key areas, including a ‘reset’ in relations between central and local government on 
schools. 
 
In the discussion that followed, Members raised the following points; 
 

 That the LGA should continue to push for a positive dialogue with DfE. 

 That the LGA should continue to emphasise the role local authorities have in 
improving local standards, skills and opportunities for their residents and as 
positive players in their local economies. 

 That to ensure no child falls through the gaps it would be beneficial for local 
authorities duty towards schools to be status blind.  

 
Decision 
 
The Board noted the update in the report and the letter to the Secretary of State for 
Education attached at Appendix 1. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to incorporate the Board’s feedback in the LGA’s ongoing dialogue with DfE.  
 

 

7   Update on LGA Task Group: The Future of Children's Social Care Improvement 
  

 

 Cllr Dick Madden, Chair of the task group on the future of children’s social care 
improvement, updated the Board as to the task groups progress. He explained that the 
task group has now met twice since the Board formally approved its terms of reference 
at the January Board meeting. At its last meeting, the group took evidence from the 
ISOS Partnership and the Early Intervention Foundation. Cllr Madden explained he has 
recently written to all Lead Members for Children’s Services to publicise the group’s 
work. This letter also included a short survey to gather additional information about 
councils’ experience of improvement support, which will further inform the task group’s 
work. 
 

 

8   Note of the Previous Meeting 
  

 

 The Board agreed the minutes of the previous meeting.  
 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Children and Young People 
Board 

29 June 2017 

 

 

 

 
Appendix A -Attendance  

 
Position/Role Councillor Authority 
   
Chairman Cllr Richard Watts Islington Council 
Vice-Chairman Cllr Roy Perry Hampshire County Council 
Deputy-chairman Cllr Gillian Ford Havering London Borough Council 

 
Members Cllr Gareth Barnard Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
 Cllr Liz Hacket Pain Monmouthshire County Council 
 Cllr Ian Hudspeth Oxfordshire County Council 
 Cllr Dick Madden Essex County Council 
 Cllr John Kent Thurrock Council 
 Cllr Bob Cook Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 
 Cllr Anne Burns Cumbria County Council 
 Cllr Anntoinette Bramble Hackney London Borough Council 
 Alison Michalska  

 
Apologies Cllr Ian Parry Staffordshire County Council 
 Cllr Janet Walton Borough of Poole 
 Cllr David Mellen Nottingham City Council 
 Cllr Roz Gladden Liverpool City Council 
 Cllr Paul Cullen Richmondshire District Council 
 Cllr Christopher Coleman Cheltenham Borough Council 

 
In Attendance Jon Boagey National Youth Agency 
 Amanda Fearn National Youth Agency 
 Cassandra Harrison Centre of Expertise on Child Sexual Abuse 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 6





E3 LAYDEN HOUSE BY RAIL 

Thameslink - Farnngdon, Barbican 

(Restricted service), City Thameslink 

&
LAYDEN HOUSE BY UNDERGROUND 

Circle/ Metropolitan/ Hammersmith & City -

Farringdon, Barbican 

Central Line - Chancery lane 

LAYDEN HOUSE BY BUS 

63, 55, 38,259 

Layden House

76-86 Turnmill Street,
London
EC1 M 5LG

Tel: 020 7664 3000 Fax: 020 7664 3030

*The Local Government Association will be based at Layden House whilst refurbishment takes place at their offices in Smith Square.

Public Transport
Layden House is served well by public transport. The 
nearest mainline station is Farringdon (Circle, Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan Lines. It also has Overground lines)
Bus routes - Farringdon Station
63 - Kings Cross - Crystal Palace Parade (Stop A/B)
55 - Oxford Circus -High Road Leyton (Stop E/K)
243 - Redvers Road - Waterloo Bridge (Stop E/K)

Cycling Facilties
The nearest Santander Cycle Hire racks are on Theobold's Road. 
For more information please go to www.tfl.gov.uk

Car Parks
Smithfield Car Park - EC1A 9DY
NCP Car Park London Saffron Hill - EC1N 8XA

Page 66


	Agenda
	2 Improving the effectiveness of the child protection system
	Appendix A
	Executive summary 
	What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in improving outcomes for children in the child protection system? 
	What do we know about what local areas are delivering? 
	What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection system?
	Priorities for action 

	1. Introduction 
	Context and purpose
	Methods and the research strands 
	Understanding the evidence

	2. What does the evidence tell us about what is effective in improving outcomes for children in the child protection system?
	Where is the evidence strongest, and what are the priorities for evaluation?
	Improving the quality of assessment and family engagement in child protection
	Interventions for children and families in the child protection system 
	Interventions related to domestic abuse 
	Innovative models and approaches to delivering a local child protection service 
	Social work practice 

	3. What do we know about what local areas are delivering as part of the child protection system?
	The role of evidence in the child protection system 
	Evidence in culture and vision
	Evidence in commissioning and service provision
	Local evaluation and cost–benefit analysis
	Evidence-based provision within the child protection system
	The relationship between child protection and early help 
	Evidence in practice and individual casework

	4. What do we know about the overall effectiveness of the child protection system?
	Demand on the system
	Outcomes of the child protection system
	International comparisons

	5. Conclusions and recommendations 
	Key findings and conclusions
	Priorities for action



	3 Post-election lobbying priorities
	4 End of Year Board Report
	5 Update on LGA Task Group: The Future of Children's Social Care Improvement
	6 Note of the Previous Meeting
	 



